
Standards Committee 
Members 

 
 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Wednesday, 7 December 2011.   
 
 
Barry Quirk, Chief Executiv 
November 29 2011 
 
  

Councillor Duwayne Brooks 
Gill Butler 
 

Councillor Julia Fletcher 
Sally Hawkins 
 

Councillor Alan Hall 
David Roper- Newman 
 

Councillor Stella Jeffrey 
Cathy Sullivan 
 

Councillor Pauline Morrison 
Leslie Thomas 
 

Councillor Sam Owolabi-Oluyole 
1 vacancy 

  

  

Public Document Pack





 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Standards Committee 
Agenda 

 

Wednesday, 7 December 2011 
7.30 pm, Civic Suite,Town Hall, Catford, SE6 4RU 
Civic Suite 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact:  Troy Robinson 0208 3149365 (Tel: ) 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Declarations of Interests 

 
1 - 3 

2.   Standards Committee Minutes 21 June 
 

4 - 6 

3.   Annual Complaints 
 

7 - 68 

4.   Compliance with Mermber Code of Conduct 
 

69 - 88 

5.   Localism Act 
 

89 - 97 



 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE  
 

Report Title 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 1 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: 7 December  2011 

 
Declaration of interests 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on 
the agenda. 
 
Personal interests 
There are two types of personal interest :-  

(a) an interest which you must enter in the Register of Members’ Interests* 
(b) an interest where the wellbeing or financial position of you, (or a 

“relevant person”) is likely to be affected by a matter more than it would 
affect the majority of in habitants of the ward or electoral division 
affected by the decision. 

 
*Full details of registerable interests appear on the Council’s website. 
 
(“Relevant” person includes you, a member of your family, a close associate, 
and  their employer, a firm in which they are a partner, a company where they 
are a director, any body in which they have securities with a nominal value of 
£25,000 and (i) any body of which they are a member, or in a position of 
general control or management  to which they were appointed or nominated 
by the Council, and  
(ii) any body exercising functions of a public nature, or directed to charitable 
purposes or one of whose principal purpose includes the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any trade union or political party) where they hold 
a position of general management or control,  
 
If you have a personal interest you must declare the nature and extent of it 
before the matter is discussed or as soon as it becomes apparent, except in 
limited circumstances.  Even if the interest is in the Register of Interests, you 
must declare it in meetings where matters relating to it are under discussion, 
unless an exemption applies. 
 
Exemptions to the need to declare personal interest to the meeting  
You do not need to  declare a personal interest  where it arises solely from 
membership of, or position of control or management on: 
 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



(a) any other body to which your were appointed or nominated by the 
Council 

(b) any other body exercising functions of a public nature. 
 
In these exceptional cases, unless your interest is also prejudicial, you only 
need to declare your interest if and when you speak on the matter .   
 
Sensitive information  
If the entry of a personal interest in the Register of Interests would lead to the 
disclosure of information whose availability for inspection creates or is likely to 
create  a serious risk of violence to you or a person living with you, the 
interest need not be entered in the Register of Interests, provided the 
Monitoring Officer accepts that the information is sensitive.  Where this is the 
case, if such an interest arises at a meeting, it must be declared but you need 
not disclose the sensitive information.  
 
Prejudicial interests 
Your personal interest will also be prejudicial if all of the following conditions 
are met: 
 

(a) it does not fall into an exempt category (see below) 
(b) the matter affects either your financial interests or relates to 

regulatory matters -  the determining of any consent, approval, 
licence, permission or registration 

(c) a member of the public who knows the relevant facts would 
reasonably think your personal interest so significant that it is likely 
to prejudice your judgement of the public interest. 

 
Categories exempt from being prejudicial interest 
 

(a)Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the 
matter relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears 
exception) 

(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a 
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school 
governor unless the matter relates particularly to the school your 
child attends or of which you are a governor;  

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e)Ceremonial honours for members 
(f)  Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 
 

Effect of having a prejudicial interest 
If your personal interest is also prejudicial, you must not speak on the matter.  
Subject to the exception below, you must leave the room when it is being 
discussed  and not seek to influence the decision improperly in any way. 
 
Exception 
The exception to this general rule applies to allow a member to act as a 
community advocate notwithstanding the existence of a prejudicial interest.  It 

Page 2



only applies where members of the public also have a right to attend to make 
representation, give evidence or answer questions about the matter. Where 
this is the case, the member with a prejudicial interest may also attend the 
meeting for that purpose.  However the member must still declare the 
prejudicial interest, and must leave the room once they have finished making 
representations, or when the meeting decides they have finished, if that is 
earlier.  The member cannot vote on the matter, nor remain in the public 
gallery to observe the vote. 
 
 
 
 
Prejudicial interests and overview and scrutiny   
 
In addition, members also have a prejudicial interest in any matter before an 
Overview and Scrutiny body where the business relates to a decision  by the 
Executive or by a committee or sub committee of the Council if at the time the 
decision was made the member was on  the Executive/Council committee or 
sub-committee and was present when the decision was taken. In short, 
members are not allowed to scrutinise decisions to which they were party.  
 

Page 3



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\1\6\6\ai00002661\$jl0k3n3n.doc 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

Report Title 
 

Minutes 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No.  
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: 7 December 2011 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee, which was open to 
the press and public, held on 21 June 2011 (copy attached) be confirmed and signed.  
 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 4



 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 

 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the STANDARDS COMMITTEE which was open to 
the press and public, held at LEWISHAM TOWN HALL, CATFORD, SE6 4RU 
on TUESDAY 21 JUNE 2011 at 7:30 p.m. 
 

Present 

 
Independent members:  Gill Butler , Sally Hawkins, David Roper-Newman,   
Cathy Sullivan and Leslie Thomas.  
 
Councillors Alan Hall, Stella Jeffrey,  Pauline Morrison and Sam Owalabi 
Oluyole. 
 
 
 

Minute 
No. 

 Action 
 

1 APPOINTMEN T OF CHAIR 
 

 

 RESOLVED that Sally Hawkins be appointed 
as the chair for the remainder of 
the municipal year. 
 

 

2 APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR 
 
RESOLVED     that Gill Butler be appointed as  

                     vice chair for the remainder of 
                         the municipal year. 
 

 

3 MINUTES  
  

   RESOLVED     that the minutes of the meeting 
held on 8th March 2011 be 
approved as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair.. 

 

 

4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
None was declared. 

 

   
5 REVIEW OF THE LOCAL CODE OF 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

  
  

Kath Nicholson, Head of Law and Monitoring 
Officer introduced the report and explained that 
this is a standard report that is presented to the 

 
 
 
  

Page 5



Committee on an annual basis. It was further 
explained that the detailed results of the review 
are at Appendix 2 to the report. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 

6 UPDATE ON LOCALISM BILL  
  

Kath Nicholson, Head of Law and Monitoring 
Officer gave a presentation on the passage of 
the Localism Bill through Parliament , which is 
anticipated to receive Royal Assent in late 
2011.  

 

    
    
    

 
DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
To be arranged 

 
   The meeting ended at 8:00pm 

Page 6



 1

 STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

Title Annual Complaints Report 

Key decision No Item no 3 

Wards All wards 

Contributors Executive Director for Customer Services  

Class Part 1 7
 
December 2011 

 
 

1. Executive Summary 
 

1.1. The report provides performance information on complaints dealt with by the 
Council at stages 1 and 2 of the Corporate Complaints procedure as well as 
complaints and enquiries to the Mayor and Councillors and complaints and 
enquiries from MP’s during 2010/11.  There were a total of 5,031 complaints 
and enquiries received in 2010/11, this represents a 24% decrease when 
compared to 2009/10.  The biggest decrease was in the number of Stage 1 
complaints.  However there was slight increase in the number of Mayor 
complaints and enquiries which rose by 8% from 538 to 579.   

 
1.2. The report does not include complaints about the provision of adult and 

children’s social care both of which are reported and publicised according to 
statutory guidance. 

 
1.3. The Independent Adjudicator’s (IA) report is attached at Appendix 1.  The IA 

dealt with 74 complaints between 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 of which she 
partially or fully upheld 40 (56%).  The IA responded to 79% within the 30-day 
response standard, a decrease in performance of 10% against the 2009/10 
performance. The IA identified a number of issues from the complaints and 
makes recommendations for improvement. 

 
1.4. The IA has also raised a concern that there has been one case in which the 

Council didn’t follow the advice that supported her recommendations.   
 
1.5. The Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) report is attached at Appendix 2.  In 

2010/11, the LGO made decisions in a total of 89 cases, a  decrease of 2 cases 
on the previous year.  Lewisham received no public reports.  

 
2. Purpose of Report 
 
2.1. To update the Standards Committee on the Council’s complaints performance 

for 2010/11 at all stages including the Independent Adjudicator’s report and the 
Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review.   

 
 
3. Policy Context 

Agenda Item 3

Page 7



 2

 
3.1. Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy 2008-2020 contains the shared 

priorities for the borough.  It sets out a framework for improving the quality of 
life and life chances for all who live in the borough.  This approach works 
towards meeting the ‘Empowered and Responsible’ priority where people take 
responsibility for the well-being of their area and those who live there. 
Informing the Council where it has gone wrong or commenting on what it has 
done right means that local services can respond quickly and effectively. 

 
3.2. The Council has outlined ten corporate priorities which enables the delivery of 

the Sustainable Community strategy.  Access to the Council's complaints 
system and the annual review of complaints and enquiries to the Council 
addresses the 'Community Leadership and Empowerment' corporate priority to 
develop opportunities for active participation and engagement of people in the 
life of the community. 
 

4. Recommendations 
 

Members are recommended to: 
 

4.1. Note the contents of the report. 
 
5. Introduction 
 
5.1. This report summarises how the Council and its partners performed when 

dealing with complaints and how it is using the feedback from complaints to 
improve services. The report does not cover statutory complaints received for 
adult and children’s social care that are subject to a separate report. 

 
5.2. The report includes a summary of the Independent Adjudicator’s report and a 

summary of the Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review with the full 
reports attached as appendices.   

 
6. Stage 1, 2 complaints , MP, Mayor and Councillor enquiries  
 
6.1. The standard response times and responsibility for responding to complaints at 

each stage are:  
 

Stage 1 – 10 days by the Service Manager 
 
Stage 2 – 20 days by the Head of Service or Executive Director 
 
Stage 3 – 30 days by the Independent Adjudicator 
 
MP/Mayor/Councillor – 10 days by the Head of Service or Executive Director 

 
6.2. The tables below show the number of representations the Council and each 

directorate dealt with in the year and the percentage dealt with in the standard 
response time.  The statistics are for cases logged onto iCasework between 1 
April 2010 and 31 March 2011 compared with performance over the same 
period in 2009/10. This does not include general enquiries to services only 

Page 8



 3

those that are received via the Mayor, Members and MPs.  Please note, these 
figures do not include enquiries made by the general public directly to the 
Council.  

 
 

 Total Complaints and Enquiries 

Directorate 2009/10 2010/11 Variance 

Children and 
Young People 

281 329 48 

Community 
Services 

271 319 48 

Customer 
Services 

2770 2333 -437 

Lewisham Homes 2063 1325 -738 

Regeneration 1200 700 -500 

Resources 37 25 -12 

Total 6622 5031 -1591 

 

 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 

Directorate 2009/10 2010/11 Variance 2009/10 2010/11 Variance 

CYP 66 64 -2 6 9 3 

Community 
Services 

81 83 2 4 6 2 

Customer 
Services 

1103 895 -208 163 170 7 

Lewisham 
Homes 

978 572 -406 199 118 -81 

Regeneration 174 149 -25 28 34 6 

Resources 21 10 -11 1 1 0 

Total 2423 1773 -650 401 338 -63 

 

Page 9



 4

 

 MP Mayor Members 

Directorate 2009/10 2010/11 Variance 2009/10 2010/11 Variance 2009/10 2010/11 Variance 

CYP 123 143 20 19 42 23 67 71 4 

Community 
Services 

83 73 -10 32 47 15 71 110 39 

Customer 
Services 

694 540 -154 206 257 51 604 471 -133 

Lewisham 
Homes 

443 336 -107 91 100 9 352 199 -153 

Regeneration 168 136 -32 186 130 -56 644 251 -393 

Resources 3 3 0 4 3 -1 8 8 0 

Total 1514 1231 -283 538 579 41 1746 1110 -636 

 
 

6.3. The number of complaints and enquiries received in 2010/11 was 5031.  This 
was a significant decrease (24%) on the previous year when a total of 6662 
were received.  This reflects the impact of decisions and consultations which 
took place in 2009/10, for example that year Regeneration received a 
significantly higher number of complaints and enquiries due to the introduction 
of new Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) and consultation on Lewisham Town 
Centre. 

 
6.4. Overall the number of Stage 1 and Stage 2 complaints has continued to 

decrease however there was an increase in the number of enquiries received 
by the Mayor which rose by 41 from 538 in 2009/10 to 579 in 2010/11. 

 
6.5. Lewisham Homes have worked to reduce the number of complaints received at 

Stage 1 by effectively dealing with cases earlier through the introduction of an 
informal stage and also reviewed the escalation process to ensure that  
wherever possible all complaints are investigated at Stage 1 instead of being 
escalated to Stage 2 from another enquiry – to councillors, the Mayor, MP or 
via the Local Government Ombudsman. 

 
The chart below shows the trend in performance by stage over the last three 
years. 

 

Page 10



 5

 
 

 
6.6. The distribution of complaints received by Ward is shown on the map below.  

This shows that the highest number of complaints received per 1,000 
population was received from residents in Ladywell Ward. 

 

 
 
 

6.7. As in previous years overall the largest proportion of complaints received relate 
to council tax and housing management.  A table at Appendix 3 sets out the 
top 3 types of complaint by Ward as this does vary across the borough. 

 
 

 

Page 11



 6

 
 
6.8. The reason for the complaint also varies across the directorates.  The table 

below shows the top areas by directorate, excluding Resources who do not 
have sufficient complaints to establish trends. The main reasons for complaints 
were: 

 

◊ Service not provided or not of expected standard 

◊ Disagree with decision 

◊ Failure to take/complete action 
 

 

CYP 
Community 
Services 

Customer 
Services 

Regeneration 
Lewisham 
Homes 

Primary Schools: 
Education Access 

Community 
Education Service: 
Curriculum team 

Rehousing: 
Development 

Highways: Street 
Works 

Maintenance 
service: responsive 
repairs 

Secondary School 
and Colleges: 
Education Access 

Sport and Leisure: 
Contractor 

Council Tax: Bailiff 
action 

Development 
Control: Planning 
Applications 

Plumbing: 
responsive repairs 

SEN provision  
Crime Reduction 
Service: Anti-social 
Behaviour 

Council Tax: 
Summons 

Parking 
enforcement 

Technical team; 
inspections 

 
Complaints and service improvement 
 
6.9. Each directorate has responsibility for managing complaints and this process is 

overseen by the Corporate Complaints team.  Directorate representatives meet 
regularly to raise and resolve common issues and exchange best practice.  
Throughout the year directorates have worked to improve the quality of the 
complaints handling. Actions include: 

 

◊ Offering on the spot resolution to avoid complaints escalating 

◊ Scanning all documents onto iCasework to enable a complete view of 
the investigation to be available to others 

Page 12



 7

◊ Introduction of a response template at stage 2 to gather information 
and ensure all aspects of a customers complaint have been 
addressed 

◊ Introduction of an informal complaints stage by Lewisham Homes 
prior to Stage 1. 

 
6.10. As well as ensuring that the complaints process is as efficient and effective as 

possible, utilising the complaints received to inform and drive service 
improvement is seen as a key function for those dealing with complaints.  

 
6.11. Each directorate has used complaints received to identify areas of concern and 

make changes to improve the way the service is delivered. 
 
For example: 

 

◊ CYP are developing a more robust monitoring system to ensure that 
formal Statement of Special Educational Need (SEN) review meetings 
take place when scheduled 

 

◊ Concerns raised by a customer have informed the way in which the 
Council communicates with service users about Direct Payments and 
individual Budgets 

 

◊ Planning are reviewing their enforcement processes to ensure that 
where actions have been agreed they are monitored 

 

◊ In response to the number of complaints received about repairs 
Lewisham Homes have revised their procedures to minimise delays and 
achieve more ‘first fix’ repairs. 

 
6.12. More detailed information on the actions undertaken by directorates to improve 

the quality of complaints handling and the lessons learnt are set out in 
Appendix 4. 

 
7. Independent Adjudicator 
 
7.1. The Independent Adjudicator (IA) deals with stage 3 complaints on behalf of 

the Council.  This section summarises the IA’s report and the action being 
taken in response to the issues raised.  The report covers the period 1 April 
2010 to 31 March 2011, but does include one case resolved in 2011/12 where 
the IA has raised concerns that her recommendations were not implemented. 

 
7.2. The IA dealt with 72 cases (2 cases were withdrawn) and upheld, in full or part, 

40 cases. This is a 28% decrease in the number received in 2009/10. The 
percentage of cases partially or fully upheld remained the same at 56%.   

 
7.3. The IA has commented positively in her report on the fact that only a small 

percentage of Stage 1 complaints (3.5%) progress to Stage 3.  In addition the 
percentage moving from Stage 2 to Stage 3, which was raised as a concern in 
the 2010 report, has decreased from 25% to 22%. She also felt that 

Page 13



 8

Lewisham’s complaints process is clear and accessible and therefore does not 
see the decrease in numbers being the result of poor signposting. 

 
7.4. The IA responded to 79% of cases within the 30 day standard, below the 85% 

target.  This was mainly due to the complexity of the cases and in all instances 
complainants were notified of the delay.  

 
7.5. Cases by directorate 
 

The table below sets out the number of Stage 3 complaints against each 
directorate and each partner (withdrawn cases in brackets). Though the number 
of Stage 3 complaints decreased overall there was an increase in  
Regeneration where the number increased from 5 to 9. This was mainly due to 
the increase in the number of planning complaints which increased from 3 to 5. 

 
 

Directorate 2009/10 2010/11 

Children and 
Young People 

1 2 

Community 
Services 

2 2 

Customer 
Services 

44 (2) 22 (1) 

Lewisham Homes 41 (2) 31 

Regenter B3 6 7 

Regeneration 5 9 

Resources 1 1 

Total 100 (4) 74 (1) 

Note: 1 case received in 2010/11 was withdrawn after 1
st
 April 2011 

 
7.6. Compensation 
 

Compensation was awarded in 27 cases ranging from £50 to £4,000. The total 
amount of compensation paid was £11,559. This compares to 26 cases in 
2009/10 with the total amount being £8,745. 

 
 Up to and 

including £100 £100-£500 More than £500 TOTAL 

2009/10 12 £1,025 13 £4,350 2 £2,785 27 £8,159 

2010/11 5 £400 19 £4,945 2 £6,250 26 £11,559 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 9

7.7. Key issues highlighted by the IA 
 
7.8. Compliance 

In previous years the IA has been happy with the compliance with her 
recommendations. However this year she comments that for the first time the 
Council has failed to implement her recommendations.  Though the resolution 
of this case falls into 2010/11 it has been raised in this year’s report as under 
the IA protocol instances of non-compliance are to be reported in the annual 
report. 

 
7.9. The outgoing IA partially upheld a complaint that related to properties that were 

identified as empty and recommended that an apology was sent to the 
complainant and that compensation of £500 was paid.  In addition, the IA  
asked the Council to review its Empty Dwelling Management Order (EDMO) 
procedure and ensure that it follows the good practice guidance available on 
the Empty Homes website at 
www.emptyhomes.com/usefulresources/edmos.html.  Also to review its 
website information on empty homes to ensure that it is balanced and fair. 

 
7.10. The Council did make an apology and award £500 compensation.  The IA’s 

concerns relate to the fact that the monies owed for building control fees were 
deducted from the compensation and conflating this issue in the apology letter 
was not helpful. 

 

7.11. Timeliness of information 

Though the IA states that there has been improvements in the timeliness of the 

information submitted she is concerned that the case file notes or a case file 

analysis is not consistently provided. This is an issue that has been highlighted 

in previous years but still causes concern.  The difficulty for the IA is that it is 

often only once the investigation has begun that it becomes clear what 

evidence is missing and this can result in a delay in responding.  
 
7.12. Apologies 

A well-drafted and genuine apology can go a long way to reassuring a 
complainant that their concerns have been taken seriously. The IA raises 
concerns about the standard of apologies that are being sent to complainants 
and recommends that the guidance on producing these is reviewed as where 
reluctance is conveyed in poor wording in an apology, this can exacerbate the 
issue. 

 
7.13. The IA’s report for the Council is attached at Appendix 1.  The IA has prepared 

a separate annual report for Lewisham Homes which deals specifically with 
any issues relating to them.  The IA will attend their management team to 
present the report and the Council will monitor any actions arising from it.  

 
8. Local Government Ombudsman Annual Letter 2010/11 
 
8.1. The Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) produces an annual review for all 

councils.  The review provides statistics on complaints received over the past 
year by the Ombudsman against local authorities.  This year’s annual review 
letter is an overview of the work of the LGO and does not include any 

Page 15



 10

commentary specific to Lewisham cases. The Local Government 
Ombudsman’s Annual Letter is attached at Appendix 2. 

 
8.2. Enquiries received from the Ombudsman are managed, on behalf of the Chief 

Executive, by the head of his office. During 2010/11 the powers of the LGO 
were extended to include complaints about independent providers of adult 
social care received from individual’s funding their own care services.  

 
8.3. For the year ended 31 March 2011, the LGO made decisions in a total of 89 

cases. This is a decrease of 2 from the 91 cases in the previous year. It does 
not include 2 adult social care decisions made after 1st October 2010. (Adult 
social care complaints were not included in the 2009/10 figures). There were 
no public reports issues for 2010/11. 

 
8.4. When compared with neighbouring authorities Lewisham was the only one 

which had a decrease in the number of complaints investigated by the LGO. 
Comparative performance with our neighbours is set out in Appendix 5. 

 
8.5. The improvement in the Council’s response time to Ombudsman enquiries was 

sustained in this year with the average number of days to responding 
decreasing from 31.2 days in 2009/10 to 24.7 in 2010/11. 

 
8.6. The LGO’s report has been considered at Executive Management Team and 

cascaded to directorate management teams.  The Council continues to build 
and develop a positive professional relationship with the York Ombudsman’s 
office, as well as continuing to learn from mistakes made in complaints 
management. 

 
9. Actions for 2011/12 
 
9.1. An Internal Audit of Comments, Complaints & Compliments which commenced 

in 2010/11 but reported in 2011/12 gave the service a substantial level of 
assurance.  The recommendations resulting from the audit, all of which were 
low or medium priority, have been incorporated into the Corporate Complaints 
Action Plan 2011/12 which is attached at Appendix 6. 

 
9.2. The Corporate Complaints team and the Corporate Complaints Improvement 

Group (CCIG) have identified actions to take forward in 2011/12 to ensure that 
complaints handling across the Council continues to improve. These include: 

 

◊ Ensuring that the actions resulting from the IA’s recommendations, 
recommendations relating to last year’s annual report from the Public 
Accounts Committee and recommendations from an Internal Audit 
that took place April 2011 are monitored and reviewed regularly by 
CCIG 

 

◊ Preparing for the transfer of housing management complaints to the 
Housing Ombudsman in 2013 and working with housing partners to 
ensure that this is communicated to tenants 

 

Page 16



 11

◊ Working with the LGO to develop training on complaints handling for 
frontline staff  

 
10. IA actions for 2011/12 
 
10.1. The IA’s role is not only to determine complaints and encourage the Council to 

learn from those complaints, it is also to make recommendations for good 
administrative practice. So, this year, the IA will be producing updated 
guidance on remedies and making apologies.  In addition, the IA will be writing 
a factsheet for complainants to be posted on the Council’s website explaining 
her role; what she can and cannot look at; the kinds of remedies she proposes; 
and anonomised examples of complaints she has upheld and not upheld.  The 
IA believes that this will help manage complainant’s expectations at a time 
when the Council is facing such significant challenges and the consequent 
prospect of increasing complaints. 

 
11. Legal Implications 
 
11.1. There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.  It is 

recommended good practice from the Local Government’s Ombudsman’s 
Office to make full and specific reference to handling complaints within a 
management agreement entered into under section 27 of the Housing Act 
1985.   

 
12. Financial Implications 
 
12.1. There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
13. Personnel Implications 
 
13.1. There are no personnel implications arising from this report. 
 
14. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
14.1. There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 
15. Equalities Implications 
 
15.1. The iCasework system enables the Council to collect equalities monitoring 

information which is used to ensure the complaints process remains accessible 
and that no particular parts of the community suffer inequity in service delivery. 

 
15.2. The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together all previous equality legislation 

in England, Scotland and Wales. The Act includes a new public sector equality 
duty (the equality duty or the duty), replacing the separate duties relating to 
race, disability and gender equality. The duty came into force on 6 April 2011. 
The new duty covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 

Page 17



 12

15.3. In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard 
to the need to: 

 
•  eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct prohibited by the Act. 
•  advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not. 
•  foster good relations between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not. 
 
15.4 As was the case for the original separate duties, the new duty continues to be a 

“have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, 
bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute 
requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity or foster good relations.  

 
15.5 The Equality and Human Rights Commission issued guides in January 2011 

providing an overview of the new equality duty, including the general equality 
duty, the specific duties and who they apply to.  The guides cover what public 
authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally 
required, as well as recommended actions. The guides were based on the then 
draft specific duties so are no longer fully up-to-date, although regard may still 
be had to them until the revised guides are produced. The guides do not have 
legal standing unlike the statutory Code of Practice on the public sector equality 
duty, However, that Code is not due to be published until April 2012.  The 
guides can be found at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-
guidance/public-sector-duties/new-public-sector-equality-duty-guidance/. 

 
15.6 The corporate complaints and quality team will continue to work with voluntary  

community groups to ensure no one is disadvantaged from using the 
complaints process.   

 
16. Environmental Implications 

 
16.1. There are no environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
17. Conclusions 
 
17.1. The Council has been continually improving its complaints process in response 

to feedback and best practice.  However, there is still a lot more to do to 
ensure customers receive excellent services.  The actions contained in the 
report will ensure excellence is achieved. 

 
18. Background Documents and Report Author 
 
18.1. There are no background documents to this report. 
 
18.2. If you would like more information on this report please contact Peter Gadsdon, 

Head of Strategy & Performance on 0208 314 8464. 
 

Page 18



 13

APPENDIX 1 
 

Fifth Annual Report of the  
Independent Adjudicator  

for the  London Borough of Lewisham 
1 April 2010 – 31 March 2011 

Page 19



 14

Fifth Annual Report of the  
Independent Adjudicator  
for the London Borough of Lewisham 
1 April 2010 – 31 March 2011 
 
Margaret Doyle 
August 2011 

 

This is the fifth Annual Report of the Independent Adjudicator for the London Borough of 

Lewisham*. It covers the period from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011. It is organised as follows: 

 

Section 1: Headline issues 

Section 2: Background and role of the IA 

Section 3: Procedure 

Section 4: Performance 

Section 5: Observations and issues from the casework 

Section 6: Recommendations 

Appendix: Case digests 

 

*The report covers the Council and its partner organisations. A separate annual report has been produced for 

Lewisham Homes as well.  

 

Although some of the housing cases I dealt with, and included here,  involved only the Council’s partners, 

throughout this report I sometimes refer to ‘the Council’. This is both for simplicity’s sake, and because my role has 

been to consider complaints about the Council, which ultimately is the body held responsible by the users of 

Council services and by the Local Government Ombudsman. 

 

Section 1: Headline issues 
 
The main issues I want to highlight in this year’s Annual Report are: 

 

• A significant decrease in stage 3 complaints – 24% fewer than last year. This is very 

promising and in my view reflects improvements in complaint handling at earlier 

stages. 

 

• Improved timeliness in Council officers responding to requests for information. Officers 

are better at meeting their deadlines for submitting information to me. The quality and 

thoroughness of that information remains patchy, however. I have seen improvements 

particularly from Lewisham Homes and the Council Tax sections. 

 

• A level of defensiveness, particularly about apologies. In a number of cases I have had 

protracted discussions with Council officers about my recommendations for apologies. 

In my view the Council is sometimes reluctant to accept and acknowledge when things 

have gone wrong. 

 

• One failure to comply. In one case I report on here, the Council has failed to implement 

my recommendations. This is the first time that I am aware of that this has happened. 

Page 20



 15

Under the IA protocol, instances of non-compliance are to be reported in the Annual 

Report.  

 

Section 2: Background and role of the IA 
 

The establishment of the IA 

In September 2006, the Mayor and Cabinet agreed to introduce an Independent Adjudicator 

(IA) at stage three of the Council’s complaints procedure, following a review of the procedure 

commissioned by the Chief Executive on behalf of the Mayor. The main objectives of the IA 

role were to give complainants a better service with a detailed and independent review of their 

complaints, as well as reducing the number of complaints going to the Local Government 

Ombudsman (LGO) for consideration. Subsequently, the Mayor and Cabinet agreed to make 

the IA position permanent. It was also agreed that the IA would deal with stage three 

complaints against the Council’s partners.  

 

The role 

The role of the IA is defined as follows: 

• To thoroughly investigate third stage complaints, and where necessary and 

appropriate, arrange meetings with the complainant and officers;  

• To contact the relevant service area/partner to discuss any aspect of the complaint, 

where necessary;  

• To keep the Council’s Corporate Complaints and Quality Manager and her team up to 

date on the progress of complaints;  

• To attend a quarterly review meeting with the Council’s Head of Service Development;  

• To make recommendations within 30 days of receiving the complaint;  

• To present an annual report summarising the outcomes of third stage complaints and 

include lessons to be learnt;  

• To be proactive in ensuring that a complaint is dealt with within the target time; to liaise 

with the service area/partner if they are not providing information within this defined 

timescale; and to escalate the matter if, and when, necessary; 

• To offer advice to officers, and to negotiate and facilitate a satisfactory resolution to a 

complaint;  

• To provide updates to the Council’s Departmental Management Team (DMT) on 

lessons learnt from complaints, and to share the learning with service areas/partners. 

 

The postholders 

Roger Jefferies, a former Housing Ombudsman with vast experience in local government, 

conducted the review referred to above, and piloted the IA role from November 2006 to 

October 2007. I filled the IA role on an interim basis from October 2007 to June 2008, when 

the decision was made to make the post permanent and Linzi Banks took on the role of IA. Ms 

Banks was seconded from the Local Government Ombudsman, initially for one year (until the 

end of May 2009) and with her investigative experience she brought yet another perspective to 

the IA role. Ms Banks’ secondment ended in December 2009 and she returned to the 

Ombudsman’s office. I have held the role since Ms Banks’ departure, from January 2010 to 

May 2011. The post has now been filled on a permanent basis; a transparent and public 

recruitment was carried out, and as a result of that Ms Banks has now been appointed the IA 

as of May 2011. 

Page 21



 16

 

I believe that in spite of the changes in IA since 2006, which have brought a range of 

experience and background to the role, we have developed a consistent and robust approach 

to investigating stage 3 complaints and feeding back lessons learned to the Council and its 

partner bodies.   

 

Acknowledgements 

I am grateful to Ms Banks for her invaluable support and advice during my second interim 

period as IA. I am also very grateful for the assistance I have received from the Corporate 

Complaints Team, and in particular the sterling work of Rebecca Goodman, Corporate 

Complaints Officer, and from the many members of staff with whom I have liaised in the 

departments and partner organisations.  

 

Section 3: Procedure 
 

The protocol for the handling of complaints at stage three (developed, reviewed and improved 

where necessary by the IAs and Corporate Complaints Team over the past four years) sets 

out the obligations of the service departments within the Council in relation to providing 

background information to the IA; timescales; and the implicit obligation to accept the IA’s 

findings, including the payment of compensation if recommended (any disagreement to be 

taken at executive director level and recorded as part of this report).  

 

I and my predecessors have found that overall the protocol has worked well and we have had 

full cooperation from officers in terms of following the protocol. As my predecessor found, 

there has generally been a positive response to the IA role.  

 

In one complaint I investigated this year the Council proposed a change to the protocol that 

would allow the Council to consider whether or not to accept my recommendations. I stated 

that I would not be in favour of altering the IA protocol to require the IA to allow the Council 

opportunity to consider whether or not to accept the recommendations, and respond later to 

the complainant. This would, in my view, seriously damage the credibility of the IA and the 

perception of the Council's commitment to the IA process. 

 

Compliance 

There are, of course, occasions when my findings are surprising to the Council and my 

recommendations raise concerns. In a very small number of cases this year, I have had to 

spend additional time explaining to reluctant Council officers why I have reached the 

conclusions I have. I have noticed in this small number of cases a less than enthusiastic 

response. Where this is conveyed to the complainant – such as in a poorly worded letter of 

apology – it can have unfortunate consequences, including a complaint to the Local 

Government Ombudsman.  

 

Up to now, no department has refused to accept the IA’s recommendations. This is an 

impressively high level of compliance and ensures that the IA process is effective. However, 

for the first time, one of the complaints that I investigated this year resulted in the Council’s 

failure to implement my recommendations. The failure fell into the 2011-12 financial year but, 

because the investigation was carried out in 2010-11, I mention it here. Although the Council 

Page 22



 17

adhered to the recommendations, it didn’t follow the advice that supported them, thereby 

diminishing the intent of the recommended redress. 

 

Timescales 

There were some delays in providing background information, which has led to some delays in 

final decisions. However, I have seen a marked improvement in this since my Annual Report 

last year. 

 

The Council has 5 days to respond to the request for information made by the Corporate 

Complaints Officer when a stage 3 complaint has been received. The agreement with 

Lewisham Homes allows them 10 days to respond to this request for information. 

 

I have also seen an improvement in the case information sent to me by officers at the start of 

my investigation. I have noticed that some sections of the Council, as well as Lewisham 

Homes, have made significant improvements in this regard. There remain some problems with 

this, however, and this has led to frustration on my part as well as delay.  

 

The other point at which delays can occur is after I circulate my draft decision for comment by 

officers. This year I encouraged more use of the telephone rather than email for officers to 

discuss their concerns with me. I believe this will help speed up the time between draft and 

final letters and helps prevent misunderstandings. However, I recognise that as the IA is part-

time it is not always possible to arrange telephone appointments within the timescale. In 

addition, there are times when an audit trail is needed of concerns discussed.  

 

Procedural independence 

I am independent of the Council and have carried out my IA duties as a self-employed 

consultant. I believe this independence is important to complainants, although it does not 

always reassure complainants, especially when they are unhappy with my findings. As a 

mediator my approach has been to seek to achieve mutually acceptable resolutions to 

complaints where possible. In doing so, I have emphasised my accessibility to both 

complainants and Council officers. Although the limited time available for handling stage 3 

complaints means that it is not always possible to meet every request for a site visit or 

meeting, I have wanted to be as flexible and accessible as possible in my approach and make 

myself available by telephone to both complainants and Council officers.  

 

The arms’-length nature of the role has its drawbacks. It is important that the IA encourages 

learning from complaints across the Council, and that my findings identify not just redress for 

the individual complaining – where appropriate – but also any improvements that can be made 

in policies and procedures to help prevent future complaints. One of the issues I have found 

problematic in my time as interim IA is that I am not always aware of what procedural 

improvements have been made as a result of my stage 3 decisions. 

 

For example, I recommended in a previous annual report that decisions on medical 

assessments should be sent to the applicants along with reasons for the decision. As far as I 

can tell this has not changed; I dealt with a small number of stage 3 complaints involving this 

issue and it appeared that reasons are still not being provided to applicants.  

 

Page 23



 18

Although redress to the complainant is always followed up, other recommendations relating to 

improvements in practices and procedures have not been. 

 

On the other hand, I have found officers for the most part to be willing to have a constructive 

dialogue with me about my findings. I urge them to contact me by phone where possible. I 

consider their comments on my draft decisions. My decisions are a reflection of my findings 

and views, and so inevitably there are occasions when they do not accord with the Council’s 

view, but I have been satisfied with the response I have received. I have noted before that I 

believe this is a healthy indication of a robust and independent process. 

 

Section 4: Performance 
 

This section sets out the statistical figures for the cases that my I handled in the year 1 April 

2010 – 31 March 2011. It covers complaints about the Council and its partners, including 

those about Lewisham Homes (which are also covered in a separate report). 

 
Section 4a: Performance 1 April 2010 – 31 March 2011 
 
Total cases received and determined 
 
TOTAL 
CASES 
RECEIVED 

NO. OF 
CASES 
DETERMINED 

NO. OF 
CASES 
WITHDRAWN 

NO. OF 
CASES 
CARRIED 
OVER FROM 
2009-10 

NO. OF 
CASES 
OPEN AS OF 
31/3/11 

74 72 1 4 5* 
 
* Five cases had yet to be determined as of the final date of the period covered by this report – 31/3/011 
 

 
Number of cases upheld 
 
TOTAL 
CASES 
DETERMINED 

UPHELD 
IN FULL  

UPHELD 
IN PART 

NOT 
UPHELD 

72 9  (13%) 31 (43%) 32 (44%) 

 
Time taken by the IA to resolve: 
 
30 days and below 31 to 50 days More than 50 days 

 57 (79%)*  14 (20%)  1 (1%)  

 
*The target is 85% of cases resolved within 30 days 
 
 

Number of cases received: a comparison 
 

The Council and its other 
partners 

Lewisham Homes Total cases received 

43 31 74 

 
 
Cases by directorate: 
No. of complaints against each directorate and each partner - All Council (withdrawn cases in 
brackets) 

Page 24



 19

 
Customer 
Services 

Regeneration Children 
and 
Young 
People 

Community 
Services 

Resources Lewisham 
Homes 

Regenter 
B3 

TOTAL 

 22 (1) 9 2 2 1  31 7  74 (1) 

 
 
Cases by subject: 
No. of complaints determined, by subject matter - All Council (does not include cases that 
were withdrawn and number upheld in full or in part in brackets) 

     

 All Council Council  
and 
other 
partners 

Lewisham 
Homes only 

Housing: Repairs 16 (12) 4 (4) 12 (8) 

Housing: Tenancy   8 (5) 3 (2)  5 (3) 

Housing: Re-housing   7 (2) 3  4 (2) 

Anti-social behaviour   4 (2) 0  4 (2) 

Pest Control   2  0  2 

Housing: Leaseholder   7 (2) 3  4 (2) 

Housing Benefit   1  1 N/A 

CAT   1 1 N/A 

Private-sector leasing   3 (3) 3 (3) N/A 

Planning   6 (5) 6 (5) N/A 

Education   2 (2) 2 (2) N/A 

Trees   1 (1) 1 (1) N/A 

Building Control   N/A 

Miscellaneous   5 (4) 5* (4*)  

Council Tax   7 (1) 7 (1) N/A 

Parking   2 (1) 2 (1) N/A 

Total for all Council  72 (40) 41 (23) 31 (17) 
 
Note that although some complaints raised more than one issue, each was categorised according to the main or 
primary issue complained about. 

 
 
Compensation: 
Number of cases in which compensation was awarded*: 26 
 

Up to and including £100 £101 - £500 More than £500 
5 (total £400) 19 (total £4,945) 2 (total: £6250) 

 
Total compensation awarded: £11,595 (of which  £5,225 related to Lewisham Homes). 
 
 
Section 4b: Commentary on performance 
 

Number of cases 

The total number of stage 3 complaints received about the Council and its partners (including 

Lewisham Homes) has decreased significantly – from 100 to 74.  

 

This equates to approximately 6 per month, an improvement on the past two years (6.5/month 

in 2008-09 and 8.3/month in 2009-10).  

Page 25



 20

 

Breaking this down between the Council and Lewisham Homes gives 3.5 per month for 

complaints about the Council and 2.6 per month for complaints about Lewisham Homes. This 

is an improvement for both that should be noted. 

 

I have said in my previous annual report that the number of complaints in itself is not negative, 

and an increase in complaints can be a sign of transparency and accessibility in signposting 

by the Council. The converse can also be true – that poor signposting can lead to a decrease 

in complaints. I do not believe the decrease this year can be attributed to poor signposting, 

however. There are two reasons for this. 

 

The Council has a clear and accessible process for residents to make complaints – a 

complaints form is available online and residents can also make complaints by telephone, 

email or letter. I understand the Council has also conducted outreach to ensure that 

community organisations are familiar with the complaints portal so they can log complaints on 

behalf of their clients. 

 

In addition, as I explain further in this report, I have seen demonstrable improvements in the 

handling of complaints at stage 2. I therefore believe that it is likely that the reduction in stage 

3 complaints is due to better resolution of complaints at an earlier stage. I do not have 

evidence for this, however, and I think it would be wise for the Council to carry out some 

limited research to ascertain if this accounts for the fall in stage 3 complaints. This could be 

done by, for example, contacting those who had a stage 2 complaint but did not progress it to 

stage 3. 

 

Complaint numbers overall 

It is important to keep in mind the relatively small number of complaints that proceed to stage 

3 of the Council’s procedure. In 2010-11, for example, 2,111 complaints were dealt with at 

stages 1 and 2 (including Lewisham Homes but excluding MP, Mayor, and Councillor 

enquiries), and only a very small percentage, 3.5%, of these progressed to stage 3. This figure 

has been consistently in the region of 2%-3.5% since the IA process started. It is important to 

highlight that it is still a very small percentage of complaints received overall.  

 

The picture of escalated complaints is complex because complaints reach the IA at stage 3 in 

different ways. The ‘normal’ route is via stages 1 and 2, when the complainant remains 

dissatisfied with the responses received. By far the majority of complaints go through one or 

both of these stages. But complaints also very occasionally skip a stage, if the complaint is 

particularly serious or there have been delays at stage 1 or 2. In addition, enquiries to MPs, 

Councillors and the Mayor can progress to stage 3 but by no means do they all. 

 

Last year, in 2009-10, I noted that approximately one-quarter of complaints were escalated to 

stage 3 – in other words, one-quarter of those complaints considered at the proceeding stage 

remained unresolved and proceeded to stage 3. I suggested that the Council should monitor 

this figure and consider whether, if the percentage of escalated complaints continues upwards, 

it reflects a concern about the robustness of complaints investigations and responses at 

stages 1 and 2. This percentage has slightly decreased in 2010-11 to 22% - this is a positive 

step in the right direction. 

Page 26



 21

 

Upheld rates 

I have noted before that having complaints is not a measure of poor service or performance. 

The percentage of cases upheld at these escalated stages, however, can be used as an 

indicator of how effective the complaints procedure is at stages 1 and 2. The aim should be for 

complaints to be resolved at the earliest stage possible, with only the most intractable cases 

progressing to stage 3.  

 

The percentage of complaints upheld, across the Council (including Lewisham Homes), is the 

same as last year, 56%.  

 

Breaking this down, the figure shows that the percentage of upheld complaints against the 

Council (excluding Lewisham Homes) has increased and the rate upheld against Lewisham 

Homes has stayed the same. This is disappointing given last year’s figures, which showed a 

marked improvement.  

 

Interestingly, the percentage of complaints upheld in full decreased this year, whereas the 

percentage of partially upheld complaints increased. Complaints are partially upheld when the 

IA finds evidence of failures in some but not all aspects of the complaint raised. Therefore 

sometimes a partially upheld complaint might reflect a very minor failure such as a delay in 

correspondence. 

 

I noted last year that there is no benchmark against which to measure upheld rates. However, 

it would be useful for the Council to try to decrease this percentage to nearer 30-40% across 

all complaints. The trend clearly is in that direction, and I would hope next year will see 

improvements on the percentage of complaints upheld.  

 

Time taken to resolve cases 

The majority of cases (79%) were resolved by the IA within the 30-day timescale for IA 

investigations. This fell short of the target of 85%, however. This is disappointing, especially 

given that the past few years have shown a vast improvement in this area due to improved 

procedures. 

 

Fifteen complaints were not decided within the 30-day timescale. Nine of these were minor 

delays of 5 working days or less. Although that is regrettable, it is inevitable that some such 

delays will occur, as the IA post is not a full-time one. I believe it is important to keep 

complainants informed of any delays, and to apologise for these in my final decision letter. 

When it is clear that my stage 3 decision letter will not be issued within the 30-day timescale, I 

send the complainant a holding letter with an apology and a new ‘resolve by’ date. In some 

cases I also telephone them to discuss the reason for the delay. 

 

However, the other six cases were subject to more significant delays. The reasons varied. 

One involved delayed information being sent to me, followed by unnecessarily protracted 

discussions with Council officers about my recommendation for an apology. I discuss the issue 

of apologies further below.  

 

Page 27



 22

In another I began my investigation late, after a period on leave, and found that a meeting was 

required to go through details of the complainant’s Council Tax account. This resulted in a 

week-long delay. 

 

One complaint involved a high level of compensation and this required discussion with the 

Head of Service and the Chief Executive’s office. Although I circulated my draft letter well 

within the timescale, individuals’ schedules made it difficult for me to finalise the letter until 10 

days after the target response date. Another case was very complex, with vast amounts of 

evidence submitted by the complainant and involving allegations going back several years and 

actions taken by a number of different Council officers.   

 

In one case, a very complex one, the reasons for the delay were mixed. This case involved not 

only a large amount of compensation but also specific actions to be taken by the Council, and 

it took time to establish a realistic action plan for this. More concerning, however, was that the 

investigation was delayed by the lack of a case file from the section concerned. At one point I 

had to convene a roundtable meeting with a number of officers in order to get a response to 

my initial findings.  

 

No delay is desirable, especially given that delays at stage 3 come on top of what might have 

been considerable delays at an earlier stage of the complaint. Complainants for the most part 

understand that a stage 3 complaint can take time, and they often express their preference to 

have a thorough investigation rather than a rushed decision. Where delays cannot be avoided, 

complainants want to be kept informed. 

 

By directorate and subject matter 

As in previous years, the majority of complaints in 2010-11 related to Customer Services – 

54% of complaints excluding Lewisham Homes. This was a decrease on previous years and 

reflects the fact that other directorates showed an increase in complaints, especially 

Regeneration (9, up from 5 the previous year) and Children and Young People (2, up from 1). 

As noted in previous annual reports, it is to be expected that most complaints will relate to 

Customer Services, given the services that come under the directorate – many of which are to 

do with housing, such as homelessness and allocations, and also Council Tax and Housing 

Benefit. 

 

I am concerned to see that complaints about planning doubled, from 3 last year to 6 this year. 

Five of these were upheld. I comment on planning cases later in this report. 

 

Few Council Tax complaints were upheld, and I see this as a reflection of good investigations 

at an earlier stage as well as a willingness to acknowledge errors and offer redress.  

 

The number of leaseholder complaints was down this year, although one complaint involved 

three separate leaseholders. Many of the leaseholder complaints related to similar issues and 

were, in essence, matters that are not within my remit because they involve the 

reasonableness of charges or the standard of work. 

 

One of the key housing issues related to condensation and mould in tenants’ homes. I 

comment on this later in the report. 

Page 28



 23

 

Compensation and other remedies 

The total compensation awarded in 2010-11 was £11,595 (of which £5,225 related to 

Lewisham Homes). This is an increase of about £2,000 from last year, most of which relates to 

Lewisham Homes. Compensation was awarded in 26 cases (27 last year). Most 

recommendations for compensation were in the region of £101-500, although in two 

complaints compensation was significantly higher. 

 

The IA uses the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) guidance on remedies when 

determining compensation. It is helpful to point officers in the direction of this guidance, which 

is on the LGO website but also summarised on the IA sharepoint site, particularly when the 

compensation appears high to officers responding to the draft decision. This guidance is also 

useful to officers handling stage 1 and stage 2 complaints. I often see complaints that I believe 

could have been resolved if the compensation offered at an early stage of an upheld complaint 

reflected the full range of issues covered by the LGO guidance – including distress and 

inconvenience but also reimbursement of costs and lost opportunity. And of course 

compensation is likely to be higher at stage 3 because of the additional time and trouble, and 

sometimes cost, complainants have incurred in progressing their complaint. 

 

Compensation is not the only remedy the IA recommends, and in 37% of upheld cases no 

compensation was awarded. Often the most appropriate remedy is a written apology to the 

complainant, from the relevant Head of Services, and/or a specific action that will benefit the 

complainant, such as a repair.  

 

Customer satisfaction 

The IA does not directly measure satisfaction with its work. This is carried out by the 

Corporate Complaints Team and involves sending out satisfaction surveys to complainants 

and an online survey for Council officers and officers of partner bodies. The results of this 

work are presented in the annual report produced by the Corporate Complaints Team. 

 

Problems 

There have been improvements in the timeliness of the information submitted to me by 

Council officers. I am puzzled, as I was last year, that I do not consistently receive a case file 

showing what evidence was considered at stages 1 and 2. I rarely receive file notes or a case 

analysis, as recommended by me and by Ms Banks, the previous IA. Some sections, including 

Council Tax, have been more consistently thorough in providing me with information. 

 

I know that preparing a case file is time consuming and officers are under a great deal of time 

pressure. This is likely to increase given the pressure on resources. The difficulty for the IA is 

that it is often only once the investigation has begun that it becomes clear what evidence is 

missing. I expect that this evidence will have been gathered at an earlier stage of investigation 

and therefore will not be time consuming to provide. What I find, however, is that often that 

evidence has not yet been compiled and requires time, which can then lead to delay in my 

responses.  

 

I urge the Council to revisit these recommendations from the past two years and put in place 

an electronic case file system that will encourage a consistent and comprehensive response is 

Page 29



 24

sent to the IA at the start of the stage 3 investigation. This case file could include a case 

analysis template (one was suggested by Ms Banks in her 2008-09 report), a list of evidence, 

notes of telephone conversations and a brief chronology. This will not only help the IA but will 

demonstrate that the earlier stages of investigation have been thorough and not mere rubber 

stamping.  

 

Effectiveness  

I have noted in previous annual reports that the number of IA decisions that are subsequently 

challenged and then upheld by the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) is an important 

indicator of the effectiveness, or otherwise, of the IA role. This year in only one case (so far 

determined) did the LGO come to a different view from that of the IA. I believe this indicates 

that the IA role is effective and the judgements made are sound. 

 

Information supplied by the Chief Executive’s office at the time of writing this annual report 

shows that 12 complaints investigated by the IA in 2010-11 have so far gone to the LGO.* (It is 

possible that this figure will be higher – complainants have 12 months to go to the LGO.) Two 

cases were still being considered by the LGO. In nine of the remaining cases, the LGO found 

no evidence of maladministration. In one case the LGO recommended an increase in the 

compensation to be paid, of an additional £100 above and beyond the £200 that I 

recommended.  

 

I signpost complainants to the LGO in my letters and tell them that they are at liberty to ask the 

LGO to consider their complaint if they remain dissatisfied. Sometimes they are dissatisfied 

with my findings; that is inevitable, and as shown in one case the LGO’s view was that I had 

awarded inadequate compensation for the failure identified. 

 

Sometimes complainants believe that the Council has not implemented my recommendations. 

One long-running case has led to the LGO criticising the Council for its ineffective actions 

related to planning enforcement. Where issues are identified that indicate a need for a review 

of procedures, I urge the Council to make use of this information to drive forward 

improvements. In last year’s annual report I encouraged the Council to make better use of the 

learning from LGO findings, and I am not aware that any action has been taken on this 

recommendation.  

*Of which seven related to Lewisham Homes. Note that not all complaints about the Council and its partners which 

the LGO considers have gone through the IA stage, because some are outside the remit of the IA. 

 

Section 5: Observations and issues from the casework  
 

This section describes issues that have arisen in the IA casework this year. 

 

Section 5a: General observations 

 

Stages 1 and 2 

I have noted that there have been improvements in the responses I receive to the initial 

requests for information from officers at the start of my investigation. These are usually within 

the set timescales and many are well-compiled. Lewisham Homes and the Council Tax 

section have been noticeably well-organised with their responses. 

Page 30



 25

 

I find that sections that are not used to the stage 3 process, such as Children and Young 

People, which sees only one or two stage 3 complaints each year, have difficulties providing 

comprehensive information at the start of the investigation. I understand that this may be due 

to unfamiliarity with the process, but it is important that it is not due to an inadequate 

investigation at stage 2. 

 

Compliance 

Compliance with the IA recommendations is high. However, for the first time, the Council has 

failed  to follow the advice that supported  the IA’s recommendations.  The complaint related to 

the way in which the Council pursued an interim empty dwelling management order (EDMO). I 

partially upheld the complaint and recommended that the Council write to her with an apology 

and pay her £500 compensation.  I also asked the Council to review its EDMO procedure in 

line with the good practice published on the Empty Homes website and revise its own 

information on empty homes on the Lewisham website. 

 

My concerns with compliance relate to the apology that was sent as I felt that it was deficient 

and that monies owed for a  building control fee, were deducted from the £500 compensation.  

 

As this occurred in the 2011-12 financial year the statistics relating to this case will be included 

in next year’s annual report . 

 

Apologies 

A well-drafted and genuine apology can go a long way to reassuring a complainant that their 

concerns have been taken seriously. Where a complainant has been considered petty or 

difficult, officers are sometimes reluctant to apologise, perhaps feeling that a troublesome 

complainant is not entitled to an apology. But where something has gone wrong, even if it is 

only one aspect of the complaint, I recommend an apology if the failure has caused distress, 

inconvenience or unnecessary time and trouble for the complainant.  

 

Where reluctance is conveyed in poor wording in an apology, this can exacerbate the issue, 

as can an apology from the ‘wrong’ member of staff. This year at least two complainants 

voiced their dissatisfaction with the quality of the apology they received. I urge the Council to 

review the guidance on apologies that has been produced in previous years, based on 

guidance from the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman. 

 

 Section 5b: Specific areas of complaint 

 

Damp and condensation 

I have noticed an increase this year in complaints about mould and damp. Residents are 

understandably concerned about mould in their homes, especially when they have children 

with medical conditions such as asthma. This is a difficult issue for social housing providers 

because many of the measures they can take to alleviate the problem are only temporary 

ones. Unless there is a structural problem causing damp, mould is usually a result of 

condensation within a property. Poor ventilation and overcrowding can increase condensation.  

 

Page 31



 26

In early 2011 the Council’s Housing Select Committee carried out an investigation into how 

housing providers respond to complaints about damp and mould, how possible health impacts 

are considered and the possible solutions available to landlords, particularly during the current 

harsh financial climate.1 The ‘aim was to identify ways in which housing providers might 

develop particular or better practices for dealing with damp and mould, to identify the extent of 

possible health impacts and explore viable solutions to the problem for affected tenants.’ 

 

There is no doubt that housing conditions contribute to the problems of mould and damp. 

Addressing these is difficult. Treatments such as mould washes are temporary. Permanent 

solutions depend on Decent Homes funding – the report noted that more than half of 

Lewisham Homes properties were ‘non-decent’, which increases the likelihood of damp and 

mould. In 12.5% of Lewisham Homes’ households, residents report problems with damp and 

mould. In addition, overcrowding exacerbates condensation build-up and the growth of mould.  

 

The report noted that reporting mechanisms were being improved, and residents were being 

advised on steps they can take to reduce condensation.  

 

I discussed this issue in a meeting with Lewisham Homes repairs team, and I was told that the 

information for residents is being improved and that it will clarify that residents have a 

responsibility for preventing or reducing condensation. Lewisham Homes is also producing a 

hygrometer for residents to use as a visual aid to help them identify when condensation levels 

in the home are high and need to be reduced – by opening windows, for example, or using 

extractor fans. 

 

We discussed the fact that by carrying out mould wash treatments, Lewisham Homes might be 

inadvertently raising residents’ expectations and leading them to believe that Lewisham 

Homes is responsible for the mould. This then leads to complaints, when residents believe 

that there is more that Lewisham Homes should be doing to solve the problem. 

 

Among the recommendations in the Select Committee’s report were that the Council could 

work with housing providers to develop a single, comprehensive, easy-to-understand public 

information leaflet for distribution to tenants and leaseholders; that housing providers should 

consider additional temporary solutions; that where problems are reported, officers should 

consider neighbouring properties as well as others in the block; and that health issues and 

vulnerabilities should be noted and considered. I hope that these recommendations will be 

followed up and will lead to a decrease in the number of stage 3 complaints about this issue. 

 
Planning 

I mention planning cases in particular because the number has doubled this year from last 

year. Although it is still a relatively small number (6), there are worrying patterns in the 

planning cases I have seen. Specifically, these complaints tend to have in common concerns 

about failure to consult residents (third-party objectors to planning applications) and failure to 

communicate with residents. 

 

                                                 
1
 Overview and Scrutiny Short Review into the Health Impact of Damp and Mould in Social Housing, Housing 

Select Committee, March 2011 

 

Page 32



 27

This is a difficult area. Planning decisions must take account of responses received from 

residents who object to planning developments, but they also have a duty to the applicants, 

and there is a great deal of discretion allowed in many planning application decisions. Third-

party objectors have no right of appeal, so if they are not consulted on an application 

according to the requirements, they lose the opportunity to influence a planning decision. 

There is no way to determine if, had they been consulted, this would have changed the 

ultimate decision. But the failure to consult can leave them with a lost opportunity, their only 

opportunity, to have a say.  

 

A failure to consult is often then compounded by communication failures. Most lay people are 

not familiar with the details of planning law. They reasonably expect that if a planning 

application is approved subject to certain conditions, the Council will ensure that those 

conditions are met. But enforcing such conditions is also a judgment to be made by planning 

officers, and they often engage in protracted negotiations with applicants in order to get 

acceptable results. Where the result does not meet the expectations of the objecting 

neighbours, a complaint can result. Complainants then often feel that their concerns are being 

dismissed because the Council does not reply to their letters or answer their questions. 

 

It is important for planning officers to consider how they can communicate effectively and in a 

timely way with residents, in order to explain a plan of action or keep them informed of 

progress.  

 

Private sector leasing 

In disputes involving the Council and landlords in arrangements for private-sector leasing 

(PSL), there is the option of appointing a mutually acceptable independent expert to determine 

the dispute under the Arbitration Act, as per the terms of the PSL lease (clauses 5.6, 5.6.1 and 

5.6.2). Either party can request that an independent expert be appointed, but using an 

independent expert requires the agreement of both parties.  

 

I received a PSL complaint in which the complainant has requested use of arbitration 

according to this clause in the lease. The Council explained to me that its preference was to 

use the complaints procedure, and ultimately the IA, to resolve disputes with landlords over 

PSL. I agreed that in cases of minor repairs this was acceptable, and in my view the arbitration 

clause was designed to deal with issue of major structural damage to private properties, 

requiring the expertise of a chartered surveyor. I noted, however, that in all cases parties to 

these leases could choose to use the dispute procedure set out in the lease. 

 

I therefore recommended that if either the Council or the complainant did not agree to my 

proposed settlement, either had the option of using this clause in the lease and having the 

dispute resolved through arbitration. I noted that there are likely to be costs associated with 

using an independent expert.  

 

Section 6: Recommendations 
 

Lewisham, like other local authorities, is facing momentous changes and pressures, including 

severe staff cuts. I noted last year that I was concerned what the economic climate will mean 

for complaints handling and the staff who deal with complaints. I suspect that complaint 

Page 33



 28

numbers will rise, and many more than in the past will be about issues that the Council has no 

control over – the pressures that individuals are increasingly facing in their own lives. In such 

cases it will be helpful for the Council to identify as early as possible whether the issues are 

ones it can resolve, or whether complainants can usefully be signposted to other services and 

sources of support. I do not mean by this that complainants will be passed from pillar to post, 

but I do think it is helpful for those receiving complaints to know how to identify the crux of the 

problem from the start.  

 

Complaints about complaint handling are unnecessarily time consuming. I have said that 

complaints are a valuable source of information and feedback that can lead to improvements. 

But complaints about poor complaint handling are, in my view, unhelpful and wasteful of 

precious time and energy. I therefore urge the Council to ensure that, in the light of huge 

pressure on resources, it maintains a sufficient level of resources for complaint handling in 

order to avoid delays which then lead to complaints. 

 

I recommend that the Council, and its partner bodies including Lewisham Homes and 

Regenter B3: 

 

• Identify early on whether the complaint is one the Council can deal with, and if not to 

signpost to an appropriate alternative source of support or help; 

 

• Maintain sufficient resources for complaint handling in order to avoid unnecessary 

complaint escalation through delays and poor quality responses; 

 

• Look again at the complaint where there was non-compliance with my 

recommendations to see if any lessons can be learned about the role of the IA and its 

relationship with the Council; 

 

• Ensure that recommendations involving procedural changes are followed up and the IA 

is kept informed of improvements made as a result of stage 3 decisions; 

 

• Review the guidance on apologies that has been produced in previous years, based on 

guidance from the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman; 

 

• Revisit recommendations from the past two years regarding stage 2 complaints 

handling, and put in place a system that will encourage a consistent and 

comprehensive response to the IA at the start of the stage 3 investigation;  

 

• Aim to see a decrease in the percentage of complaints upheld at stage 3; 

 

• Carry out limited research on stage 2 complaints to determine if improvements in 

complaint handling there and better resolution have led to the decrease in stage 3 

complaints this year and might do the same in the future: the research comprising 

contacting those who had a stage 2 complaint but did not progress it to stage 3; 

 

• Explain to housing applicants the reasons for medical decisions as well as the decision 

itself; 

 

Page 34



 29

• Consider how planning officers might communicate more effectively with residents 

about particular developments, providing a plan of action and keeping them informed 

of progress; 

 

• Consider in private-sector leasing complaints using the dispute procedure set out in the 

lease. 

 

 Specific recommendations for the Council’s partner organisations are: 

 

• Revisit the recommendations made last year on insurance claims, ensuring that the 

procedures are consistent and user-friendly; 

 

• Continue to make improvements in record keeping on inspections and repairs. 

 
 
 

Page 35



 30

Annual Report of the Independent Adjudicator for the London Borough of 
Lewisham / Lewisham Homes 
1 April 2010 – 31 March 2011 
 
APPENDIX: Digest of cases 
 
Margaret Doyle 

August 2011  

 

Below are selected examples of stage 3 cases* to illustrate the types of issues that I have 

considered over the year in my investigations as Independent Adjudicator (IA). I hope that the 

Council and its partners find it helpful to see the kinds of issues that have been raised, the 

remedies proposed and, more importantly, my comments on administrative practices. 

 

* Note that this case digest covers complaints about the Council and its partners, including 

Lewisham Homes.  

 

1. Housing – Repairs  
 

Housing repairs, as in previous years, made up the largest category of stage 3 complaints. 

One-quarter of stage 3 complaints related to housing repairs, and of these, 75% were upheld 

either in full or in part. 

 

1.1 Suitability of temporary accommodation, disrepair – Lewisham Homes 

 

The complaint 

The complainant lived in a one-bedroom property with her baby and a toddler. She was 

overcrowded and also had experienced a problem with damp and mould throughout her flat for 

several years. One cause of the damp appears to have been her neighbour’s bathroom. 

 

Lewisham Homes’ inspectors visited to view the problem but the complainant said they never 

seemed to follow up with a solution or carry out the work. She believed that her flat was not fit 

for purpose, that it was overcrowded and this was being made worse by the damp and mould 

and an infestation of insects caused by the damp. The situation had affected her family’s well-

being and health, including exacerbating her asthma and her children’s respiratory problems. 

She felt they should be re-housed in a suitable property. 

 

The response 

Lewisham Homes agreed that there had been damp problems in the flat, and file notes showed 

that a damp problem in the hallway cupboard was reported seven years before this complaint. 

Over the years some actions were taken in response to the complaints, but it was not clear from 

the file notes whether promised inspections were carried out, and the cause of the problems was 

not determined. 

 

When Lewisham Homes identified that one source of the problem appeared to be in the 

neighbour’s property, they attempted to contact the neighbour to gain access. Not receiving any 

response, they took action to serve a notice on the neighbour, who eventually made contact. 

Page 36



 31

Repairs were finally carried out to the neighbour’s property to address the damp problem in the 

complainant’s home, but this was five months after they had identified the problem, and many 

years after the complainant had first complained. 

 

The complainant also alleged that her family’s medical conditions had not been taken into 

account in assessing their need for a more suitable property. Lewisham Homes found that the 

property was overcrowded and acknowledged the difficulties this caused. However, the 

medical assessments had taken medical conditions into account, and the complainant had been 

awarded a band C medical priority (which later, under the revised allocations policy in 

November 2009, was renamed band 3). 

 

My findings and outcome 

I found that there had been serious failures in dealing with the problems reported and delays in 

taking effective action. I found no errors in the way the housing application or medical 

assessments had been dealt with, aside from an administrative error in informing the 

complainant of her correct list date. I therefore partially upheld the complaint.  

 

In considering a remedy for the failures, I took into account the length of time it took for 

effective action to be taken, the complainant’s lack of enjoyment of her home in that time, the 

ages of her children and the fact that they were overcrowded, and the levels of distress and 

worry experienced. I considered that Lewisham Homes did not ignore the concerns, and I noted 

that they had recently been proactive about carrying out another inspection and identifying 

additional remedial works to be carried out. 

 

I recommended that Lewisham Homes to pay compensation of £2,750 to reflect the length of 

time the leak in the neighbouring property was not dealt with. This figure was based on 

guidance from the LGO. 

 

1.2 Repairs – mutual exchange – compensation to tenant – Lewisham Homes 

 

The complaint 

The complainant and his family moved into their current property under a mutual exchange. He 

said that the property was in poor condition, including structural defects. Lewisham Homes had 

agreed to carry out repairs but missed several scheduled appointments. The complainant waited 

a month and then arranged to have the repairs carried out, borrowing money to do so. He had 

requested that Lewisham Homes reimburse him the £3,300 he had spent because they had 

failed to remedy the problem.  

 

The response 

Lewisham Homes acknowledged that it had missed appointments. It offered the complainant 

£250 compensation to reflect the missed appointments and the fact that it did not carry out the 

plaster repairs in a timely fashion. 

 

With mutual exchanges, tenants are required to accept the property in the condition it has been 

left by the last tenant and they are expected to take on some repairs responsibilities themselves. 

Lewisham Homes takes responsibility for repairs under the Right to Repair scheme, and for 

structural repairs, but its inspection in this case did not identify structural problems.  

Page 37



 32

 

My findings and the outcome 

I did not uphold the complaint. I sympathised with the complainant but I noted that he had 

already started the repairs before the missed an appointment. He had been told very clearly that 

he would not be reimbursed for these repairs. I did not agree that Lewisham Homes should pay 

the costs of the repairs the complainant carried out. It was the complainant’s choice to go ahead 

and proceed with the work at his own expense, without receiving any prior approval from 

Lewisham Homes to do so. 

 

I urged him to accept the £250 compensation that had been offered him, and I asked Lewisham 

Homes to let him know if he was also entitled to decorating vouchers. 

 

1.3 Repairs – delays and disruption - Regenter B3 

 

The complaint 

This complaint related to problems with refurbishing a tenant’s bathroom. The complainant 

explained that he was aware of a damp problem from before work began on refurbishing his 

bathroom. Specialist inspectors contracted by Higgins (part of the Regenter B3 consortium) did 

not identify damp when they carried out an inspection prior to the works beginning. High levels 

of damp were identified and rectified in October 2009, but during that time the bathroom had to 

be retiled three times, the shower replaced twice, the shower door replaced three times and the 

bathroom redecorated on four occasions, among other problems. 

 

The complainant worked from home and felt he had suffered unnecessary disruption to his 

personal life and business operations as a result of the problems with the work being carried 

out. The ongoing situation had been very stressful for him and caused months of 

inconvenience.  

 

The response 

Higgins explained that no damp was found before the works began, and again when the work 

was signed off as completed. Some months after the work had been completed, the complainant 

raised his concerns again, and another inspection was ordered and damp was identified. It could 

not determine whether the damp was present when the works began. Work was carried out to 

rectify the damp problem. From Higgins’s perspective they responded promptly to have the 

damp dealt with as soon as they became aware of it. 

 

When refurbishments are carried out, tenants are expected to experience some inconvenience. 

In this case, however, Higgins accepted that there were a number of problems with the works 

that were carried out to the bathroom and this resulted in inconvenience to him beyond what 

would normally be expected. 

 

The findings and outcome 

I upheld the complaint because it was clear to me that the problems were greater than would 

normally be expected in a refurbishment. I could not determine with certainty why these 

problems occurred or whether the damp was present when the original surveys were carried 

out.  

 

Page 38



 33

It was my view that it would be reasonable for Higgins to compensate the complainant for the 

unnecessary inconvenience, which resulted in him being deprived of the full use and enjoyment 

of his home for a period of six months, and the resulting stress of the remedial works that had 

to be carried out as a result of problems with the works. I recommended that Higgins send the 

complainant an apology and pay him £300 in recognition of the inconvenience, stress and time 

and trouble you have experienced. 

 

Post-decision 

The complainant was dissatisfied with the decision and asked the Local Government 

Ombudsman to investigate. The LGO recommended that a further £100 compensation be paid 

to the complainant. 

 

 

2. Housing – repairs and insurance   
 

For a second year, the way that insurance claims for damage and disrepair have been handled 

featured in some stage 3 complaints.  

 

2.1 Leak from neighbouring property – insurance claim – Lewisham Homes 

 

The complaint 

The complainant, an owner-occupier, had lived in her property for about a year. The property 

next door to hers had been vacant for some time and was managed by Lewisham Homes. She 

noticed that water had been penetrating the adjoining wall between the two properties, causing 

damp patches that were visible from skirting board level in her hallway through to the length of 

the living room wall, resulting in wood rot to some sections of skirting board in the living 

room. 

 

She asked for the source of the leak from the neighbouring property be identified and sealed as 

soon as possible, and that a claim be considered against Lewisham Homes for damage to her 

property. 

 

The response 

Lewisham Homes inspected both properties and found no evidence of a recent leak. It said that 

the pipe work in its property had been thoroughly investigated and no leak was found. The 

property had since been passed to London and Quadrant and was no longer managed by 

Lewisham Homes. 

 

The claim was not passed by Lewisham Homes to Insurance and Risk, and the complainant 

was instead advised to contact her own insurance company.  

 

Lewisham Homes agreed that it would have been helpful to have a further inspection of the 

complainant’s property by a more senior technical officer while the property was managed by 

Lewisham Homes.  

 

The findings and outcome 

Page 39



 34

I upheld the aspect of the complaint related to the insurance claim for damage. Because this had 

not been referred to Insurance and Risk, there was a lost opportunity to investigate the matter 

fully. Although I could not say what the outcome of that investigation would have been, 

Lewisham Homes recognised that it had failed to refer the case to its insurers and failed to 

carry out a full investigation at the time the complainant raised her concerns.  

 

I did not uphold the aspect of the complaint related to the water penetration. I could not 

determine the cause or date of the water penetration. After all the time that had passed it might 

not be possible to determine when exactly any leak occurred. It therefore may not be possible 

to determine whether any leak occurred was while the property was tenanted – in which case it 

is the tenants who are liable, but they have since moved – or while the property was vacant. 

 

Lewisham Homes had carried out a number of inspections. However, there was a lack of rigour 

in the inspections carried out, both in the failure to use a damp-testing meter and in the lack of 

recorded findings. In addition, no written findings were ever conveyed to the complainant.  

 

I explained that the insurance claim should be referred to Insurance and Risk to deal with any 

claim on liability of damage caused whilst Lewisham Homes was managing the property. I 

noted that Lewisham Homes had acknowledged there were failings in the way the complaint 

was handled and had provided an apology for this. In my view this apology, in conjunction 

with an inspection now and a referral to Insurance and Risk, provided an adequate remedy for 

the failings identified. 

 

 

2.2 Damage – insurance claim – Lewisham Homes 

 

The complaint 

This complaint involved loss and damage as a result of repairs that were carried out to the 

complainant’s home. The work was serious enough to require the tenant to be temporarily re-

housed. On her return to the property, she discovered that her carpet had been damaged, a 

ladder was missing, and her garden was in a mess and needed clearing. Also, a garden wall had 

been removed during the repair work. 

 

The response 

A successful disrepair claim had been made but some issues were outstanding. Her solicitor 

corresponded with the Lewisham Homes’ legal department about the outstanding issues to be 

resolved, and at one point it was agreed that the garden would be cleared. In the meantime, she 

submitted an insurance claim to Lewisham Homes for the damage to the carpet and the missing 

ladder. These were rejected. 

 

The findings and outcome 

I upheld the aspect of the complaint related to the promises made to clear the garden. 

Lewisham Homes agreed to carry out this work. Unfortunately, this meant that the complainant 

had not had full use of her garden for one year, from the date when the written commitment 

was made to carry this out.   

 

Page 40



 35

I could not make a finding on the damage to the carpet and lost ladder because there was 

inadequate evidence. I criticised the way the insurance claim had been handled regarding these 

two issues. The building contractor was brought in by Lewisham Homes and therefore it was 

Lewisham Homes which should have dealt with any negligence issue, insurer to insurer, not for 

the complainant to have done so. Lewisham Homes explained that the vast majority of claims 

of this type are settled in this way. If there is disagreement, however, then the Council’s 

Insurance and Risk section will intervene, make enquiries and if appropriate carry out a site 

visit to determine if there is evidence to support the claim. In this case, Insurance and Risk 

were not informed when the complainant remained dissatisfied with Lewisham Homes’ 

response and that of the contractor. This was a failure. Although I could not say that the 

outcome would have been different, but at least then the complainant would have felt a full 

investigation had been carried out.  

 

I recommended that Lewisham Homes should ensure that the work on the garden was 

completed by a specific date, and send the complainant an apology and compensation of £150 

for the loss of enjoyment of her garden for this period, plus an additional £50 for the failings in 

the way the insurance claim and complaint were handled. 

 

Post-decision 

Subsequent to the stage 3 decision, the complainant went to the LGO, who considered the delay 

in clearing her garden. The LGO found that £250 would be a more reasonable amount of 

compensation for the loss of her garden during the period when Lewisham Homes failed to 

fulfill its promise to clear it. The LGO recommended that Lewisham Homes pay the 

complainant a further £100. 

 

2.3 Condensation and mould – damage – insurance claim – Regenter B3 

 

The complaint 

A tenant of a property managed by Regenter B3 had experienced condensation and mould in 

her home for twelve years, and in the last three years this had become worse. She was disabled 

with neck and spine damage and could not leave her home. She was concerned that Regenter 

B3 had not yet resolved the problem. Her furniture had been damaged by the mould and she 

had resorted to sleeping in the living room for the past two and half years because. She was told 

to claim any losses against her insurance but she did not have any insurance.  

 

The response 

Regenter carried out a number of actions, including mould wash treatment and a positive 

ventilation system, and also moved a shed that was contributing to the problem. It did not 

investigate the complainant’s claim for compensation because it said that damage by 

condensation and mould are not insurable, so its insurers would not cover the claim. 

 

My findings and the outcome 

I determined that in spite of the actions taken by Regenter B3 to improve the situation, the lack 

of monitoring was a failing. The situation should have been monitored more actively, and for 

that reason I partially upheld the complaint regarding the mould. 

 

Page 41



 36

I also noted that Regenter B3 was not aware of the complainant’s disability and medical 

conditions, and the tenant record did not mention them, although the repairs record notes the 

fact that the tenant is disabled. I considered this also to be a failing, because it is important that 

accurate records are kept of tenants’ needs, particularly where a disability or medical condition 

might be worsened by a housing condition or the tenant might require additional support in 

managing condensation. 

 

I criticised the handling of the insurance claim. The tenant was given inaccurate information 

about the status of her claim, and she was never asked for more details about the claim. The 

claim should have been dealt with more sensitively, especially given that the complainant had 

informed Regenter B3 of the urgency of her situation when she had requested help. There was 

no reference to this request in either the stage 1 or stage 2 reply. In addition, she was 

erroneously informed that her claim was being considered by the insurers, when it was in fact 

never sent for consideration but rejected without any investigation. She was merely told to 

claim against her own insurers, something she could not do because she did not have insurance. 

 

I asked Regenter B3 to monitor the situation with a follow-up inspection and to send her an 

apology and £200 compensation. I also asked them to revise their procedure regarding 

insurance claims, inform tenants how to make a claim and ensure their records accurately 

reflect any disabilities or medical conditions. 

 

 

3. Housing – other 
 

Other housing complaints involved anti-social behaviour, leaseholder charges and communal 

gardens. 

 

3.1  Anti-social behaviour – neighbour nuisance – Lewisham Homes 

 

The complaint 

A couple complained about the lack of action taken in relation to difficulties they had 

experienced for many years from the family next door. They described a number of specific 

incidents, including loud banging and loud swearing out the back door, objects being thrown 

into their garden, and racist abuse. They had submitted diary sheets over the years documenting 

the incidents. 

The neighbours had been given a number of warnings, but the complainants felt that no action 

had been taken regarding these. Lewisham Homes had served notices seeking possession but it 

had taken no further action in spite of the anti-social behaviour continuing. The complainants 

felt these notices were empty threats.  

The response 

Lewisham Homes explained that the family next door had vulnerabilities and was supported by 

social services and other agencies. Attempts had been made to address the situation using a 

number of different approaches, including use of an Acceptable Behaviour Contract. The 

family had been working with Lewisham Homes to try to resolve their difficulties.  

 

Page 42



 37

The complainants had been advised that Lewisham Homes was unlikely to take legal action 

given the vulnerabilities of the family and their willingness to cooperate. In addition, Lewisham 

Homes did not have the resources to provide additional soundproofing. 

 

The findings and outcome 

There was no dispute that the complainants had experienced anti-social behaviour. I 

sympathised with their situation. I found that although Lewisham Homes had taken action to 

try to address the problem, it had not communicated effectively with the complainants. It had 

also not been clear as to whether it identified the behaviour as anti-social behaviour, which led 

the complainants to feel unsupported.  

 

The fact that the family had vulnerabilities did not preclude Lewisham Homes taking legal 

action. The Local Government Ombudsman’s special guidance on dealing with anti-social 

behaviour and neighbour nuisance makes it clear that the fact that there are mental health issues 

or that social services is involved with a family ‘does not preclude a council from taking other 

legal action or steps to prevent the anti-social behaviour from continuing. A council has a duty 

to act if a tenant’s behaviour is interfering with another tenant’s enjoyment of his or her 

tenancy. … A council should weigh up the merits of taking action and consider carefully the 

effects the behaviour of the perpetrator is having on the victim. Often any legal action will be 

combined with the provision of good support services for the alleged perpetrator.’ 

 

I partially upheld the complaint. Lewisham Homes had taken action. However, the 

complainants had been let down by Lewisham Homes in its response, its failure to keep 

complete records, its failure to keep them informed, and its lack of response to more recent 

complaints. I noted, however, that there may be little more that Lewisham Homes could do in 

terms of legal action, and it is important to have reasonable expectations of what can be 

achieved. My view was that Lewisham Homes had tried to tread sensitively with this, but in 

doing so it may have lost sight of the 'victim-centred' approach it describes on its website.  

 

I asked Lewisham Homes to ensure it has all the evidence, including diary sheets, relating to 

the situation and to create an action plan explaining how it will monitor the situation. I asked 

Lewisham Homes also to explore with the complainants the possibility of using a restorative 

justice approach or mediation with an independent service to try to resolve ongoing low-level 

nuisance issues. Finally, I recommended that Lewisham homes pay the complainants £150 for 

the distress caused by not keeping them informed. 

 

I considered arranging a meeting between Lewisham Homes ASB offices and the complainants 

in order to agree on an action plan. It was not possible to do so given the diaries of the 

individuals involved. However, I encouraged Lewisham Homes to convey to the complainants 

its apologies for the fact that they perceive their complaints have not been taken seriously; to 

explain its procedures in terms of how it investigates allegations and what residents can expect 

in terms of service standards; to identify what actions are taking place now; and to identify 

what actions can (and cannot) be taken, and why. I noted that it would not be easy to restore 

their confidence, but a genuine response and clear action plan will help to reassure them that 

they are being taken seriously.  

 

Post-decision 

Page 43



 38

The complainants subsequently asked the LGO to consider the complaint. The LGO is 

currently considering this complaint. 

 

3.2 Leaseholder charges, major works – Lewisham Homes and Regenter B3 

 

I received a number of stage 3 complaints relating to leaseholders’ concerns about the bills 

they had received for major works. My remit is limited in regard to these complaints, 

something that I explained to each complainant. Specifically, although I can consider if there 

have been administrative errors or failings, I cannot consider whether work that was carried 

out to a property was to the required standard, nor can I consider whether the charges made 

for the works or related fees are reasonable.  

 

In such cases, leaseholders have a right to go to the Leasehold Valuation Tribunal (LVT). This 

is an independent tribunal for resolving a range of leasehold issues.  

 

I partially upheld several of the complaints because in some aspects the complainants did not 

receive as thorough an explanation as they should have when they first raised their complaint.  

 

The complaint 

One case involved a group of three leaseholders who submitted a joint complaint about the 

management and costs of major works carried out to their building. An entry phone system and 

a new communal door had been installed, after a three-month period when the building was 

without a working lock and unsecured. There were a number of issues about the management 

of the work that they were concerned about. 

 

The response 

Lewisham Homes accepted that there had been failings in the management of the major works, 

including specifically access to the properties and that the contractors should have given more 

notice. It also accepts that there was a delay in the repair to the lock plate for the communal 

door and as a result securing the door took longer than it should have.  

 

Lewisham Homes upheld the complaint at an earlier stage and offered to waive the 

management fee on works to the entry phone (equating to £82.88 per leaseholder). The 

complainants felt that in spite of this there were questions they had raised that had not yet been 

answered. They also felt that the removal of the management fee was insufficient to 

compensate for the disruption and stress that had been caused by what they considered to be 

poor management of the major works. 

 

My findings and the outcome 

I believed the waiving of the management fee on the entry phone works was adequate 

compensation for the failures in the management of the contract. 

 

However, I identified that there was a three-month delay in completing a repair to a communal 

door. I recommended that Lewisham Homes should consider an additional amount of 

compensation of £50 for the three-month delay in securing the communal door, and this should 

be paid to all residents who were affected – (i.e. £50 x 8 residents). 

 

Page 44



 39

Sometimes, as in the case below, the primary issue  is not one I can resolve but I find that 

leaseholders have not been given as full an explanation as they should have. An early and 

thorough explanation might prevent a stage 3 complaint in such cases, although the case may 

have to go on to the Leasehold Valuation Tribunal.  

 

The complaint 

Another leaseholder complaint, this one involving Regenter B3, involved a charge on the major 

works bill reflecting window replacement in the complainants’ home. The first bill they 

received showed a charge for window replacement. They had not had their windows replaced 

but merely overhauled. Regenter B3 accepted that an error had been made on the bill and they 

corrected it – the new bill stated that the windows had been overhauled, but the charge was the 

same, about £2,400. The complainants queried how this could be accurate. 

 

The response 

Regenter B3 told them that the charge was accurate. Planning restrictions in the conservation 

area in which the complainants lived prevented Regenter B3 from replacing their windows with 

the UPVC double-glazed windows under the contract. Where windows could not be replaced, 

Regenter B3 was required to refurbish them. 

 

My findings and outcome 

I did not upheld your complaint because I could not make a judgement about the 

reasonableness of the charges or how the charges were calculated. But I could see that the 

complainants felt the charge was excessive for the amount of work done, and I considered what 

explanation they had received. 

 

What they had not been told was that the charge was linked to the way that the Major Works 

were contracted, requiring Regenter B3 to commit to undertake all the refurbishment works for 

a fixed lump sum. The sums charged to leaseholders therefore did not necessarily reflect the 

actual work carried out on their windows. The charges would have been approximately the 

same for those leaseholders who had window overhauls as they were for those who had 

complete window replacements.  

 

When the correction was made to the bill, I would have expected Regenter B3 to explain that 

the charge remained the same because it was charged on a lump-sum basis. The complainants 

should not have had to progress their complaint to stage 3 in order to obtain this explanation, 

and I asked Regenter B3 to send them an apology. 

 

 

3.3 Communal garden, leaseholder rights – Lewisham Homes 

 

The complaint 

A young couple, who were leaseholders on an estate of mixed tenancy, were concerned that 

part of the communal garden area that they were legally entitled to access had been fenced off 

for sole use of the neighbour in the downstairs flat.  

 

The complainants made a number of points, including that the fence was unsightly and the area 

was not being maintained. They felt it was unfair that they were required to contribute to the 

Page 45



 40

upkeep of the communal gardens but the grounds maintenance contractors had no access to the 

fenced-off area, and neither did other residents. 

 

The complainants believed that from a legal aspect, the fence directly contravened the law and 

should be removed as it has been illegally constructed and encloses communal land for private 

purposes. 

 

The response 

Lewisham Homes was unsure at first if the fenced-off area was part of the communal land. Its 

initial response indicated that it was not and therefore there was no justification for removing 

the fence. Subsequently it clarified that the area was part of the communal garden area, and that 

the fence had been put in several years ago. It did not uphold the complaint, however, because 

it determined that it was not in the public interest to do so given the impact on the residents 

who had fences and the likelihood that removing it would set a costly precedent in relation to 

other fences that had been put up as part of a historical informal agreement.  

 

Lewisham Homes said that it would be unfair on those residents who have invested a 

considerable amount time, effort and money in improving their surroundings. As the fenced-off 

area was contained within a larger area and was directly outside a dwelling, Lewisham Homes 

believed the practical benefits of removing the fence were negligible.  

 

My findings and the outcome 

I upheld the complaint. I agreed that the fenced-off area is part of the communal gardens, as set 

out in the complainants’ lease and deeds. All residents contribute to the maintenance of the 

communal gardens, and it was reasonable for them to feel it was unfair that a portion of the 

gardens was for the sole use of one resident.  

 

However, in my view removal of the fence was not necessarily the solution. Lewisham Homes 

had obligations to the complainants and to their neighbour. The local agreement under which 

the area was fenced off and allocated to this flat was historical and was a situation inherited by 

Lewisham Homes when it took over managing the properties. Those residents with fenced-off 

areas allocated to their properties had a reasonable expectation that this would continue.  

 

I explained that Lewisham Homes should have removed the fence at the time the flat at no. 78 

was empty, before the new tenant moved in. Had they done so, they would not have raised that 

resident’s expectations about having sole use of the fenced-off area. Lewisham Homes 

explained that they had not received any complaints and so would have had no reason to 

remove the fence, but the complainants said they had complained of the fence at the time and 

nothing had been done. 

 

I asked Lewisham Homes to apologise to the complainants for the inadequate responses to the 

complaint and to meet with the complainants to discuss their concerns about the fence. The aim 

of the meeting was to understand the specific concerns and identify possible solutions and the 

timeframe for any actions.  

 

Page 46



 41

At the meeting it was agreed that Lewisham Homes would liaise with the neighbour to explain 

the situation and would then explore three options – removing the fence outright, replacing it 

with improved fencing, or replacing it with shrubbery. 

 

Post-decision 

A meeting was held, which I chaired, and subsequently the fence was replaced and access was 

provided to all residents. In addition, Lewisham Homes committed to removing such fences in 

other properties as they become vacant. 

 

 

4. Planning 
 

The number of planning cases increased this year. Among the key issues raised are lack of 

consultation with residents and failure to enforce conditions that are placed on planning 

applications when they are approved. 

 

4.1 Consultation – safeguarding issues – Regeneration 

 

The complaint 

This complaint related to a development that received planning permission and was 

subsequently built adjacent to a school’s playground. Two of the school’s governors 

complained on behalf of the school because the playground was directly overlooked by the 

development. They were concerned about the child safety issues arising from the close 

proximity of the development and they also noted that the Council had failed to consult with 

the school, an immediate and significant neighbour, during the processing of the planning 

application. 

 

The development had been built, and the school proposed to the Council a remedy that would 

involve a land swap between part of the playground and an area of park. 

 

The response 

The Council acknowledged that it had failed to consult with the school, due to an 

administrative error. It believed, however, that even if the school had been consulted it would 

not have changed the decision. The Council considered the land swap proposal but rejected it. 

 

The officer with responsibility for safeguarding provision for children considered the 

safeguarding aspect of the complaint. She noted that this is an issue raised by residents at 

council meetings across the country when such planning permission is sought. Generally 

permission is given unless such properties block the light and height seems to be a general 

problem for some. However, it is usually regarded as a sensitive area and there is always 

consultation with schools and parents before permission is granted. She noted that there is 

nothing explicit in safeguarding guidance to cover these situations.   

 

My findings and outcome 

I explained that I cannot overturn a planning decision by the Council. However, I partially 

upheld the complaint in relation to the failure to consult and the response given. It is impossible 

to determine whether the decision on the application would have been different had the school 

been consulted. I did not agree with the Council’s assertion that it is clear that the outcome 

would have been the same, but nor could I say that the outcome would have been different.  

 

Page 47



 42

Because of the Council’s failure to consult properly, however, the school lost the opportunity to 

influence a planning development that has a significant impact on the school. That is the only 

influence that third parties can have on planning applications, as there is no right for third 

parties to appeal to the Planning Inspectorate on a planning decision they disagree with. That 

makes the consultation requirements so important. 

 

I believed more effort should have been made to discuss the land swap proposal with the school 

and to explore other remedies if the Council felt – as it does – that it could not agree to your 

proposed remedy. I therefore arranged a meeting between the complainants and the Head of 

Planning, at which a number of possible solutions were explored. I also asked the Council to 

pay the school £350 for the failure to consult. 

 

 

4.2 Enforcing planning decisions – consultation – Regeneration 

 

The complaint 

A resident made three complaints to me relating to planning approvals for an extension and a 

commercial property near his home. He had made a number of practical suggestions that he felt 

would mitigate the overlooking and the increased need for rubbish and bicycle storage from the 

additional flats. He felt the Council was not enforcing the planning conditions linked with the 

approved application. 

 

The response 

The Council has stated that it has met or exceeded the required standards of consultation on 

these projects and has complied fully with the legislative and statutory requirements in regard 

to planning applications. 

 

My findings and outcome 

This was a complex investigation covering a number of issues, and there were limits on what I 

could do for the complainants. I explained that I could not question the decisions made on 

planning applications or enforcement action, nor could I overturn any decision properly made.  

 

I partially upheld the complaint because, in my view, the Council had not been as clear as it 

should have been in explaining how it makes those decisions and the timescales in which the 

decisions will be made. It had promised action but given no indication of how long the process 

takes or how much time the Council allows the applicant to comply.  

 

I asked the Council to send an apology for not carrying out a wider consultation according to 

good practice and to discuss with the complainant his suggested remedies in more detail to and 

to explore any other possible other solutions. I also asked the Council to keep him informed of 

progress on enforcement action and to consider improvements can be made to its processes in 

order to provide clearer information to residents on its decision making on potential breaches of 

conditions, including the timescale of such decisions. 

 

 

5. Council Tax 
 

I received a number of Council Tax complaints this year, but fewer than last year. I find that 

the Council Tax section has usually carried out a thorough investigation of the complaint and 

they are ready to acknowledge errors and offer redress. It is not surprising therefore that out of 

the seven complaints I investigated only one was upheld. 

Page 48



 43

 

5.1 Council Tax arrears – bankruptcy - vulnerability 

 

The complaint 

This was a very serious complaint about the Council having made a local resident bankrupt for 

Council Tax arrears. The complainant had serious medical problems. His adviser, citing 

disability discrimination, said the Council had not taken account of these vulnerabilities and 

that it should have taken other steps before resorting to bankruptcy proceedings, something the 

Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) had criticised another Council for in a complaint it 

investigated. 

 

The two main points in the LGO decision were that the council gave inadequate warnings of 

the consequences of bankruptcy and that it failed to consider the option of a charging order 

instead. In the complaint I was considering, the Council did consider but rejected a charging 

order.  

 

The response 

The Council said that the bankruptcy was a last resort and it took place after six years of 

recovery action. The Council also told me that the complainant never indicated he was unable 

to deal with his financial affairs. He did inform the Council of a stroke in 2005 and a leg 

amputation in 2007. The bankruptcy action only proceeded in 2007 after all the other steps had 

been taken to encourage payment of the debt, and after many years of action. The LGO 

decision involving another local authority took place a year later. 

 

My findings and outcome 

I did not uphold the complaint. I noted that the action taken by the Council had a significant 

impact on the complainant, and the information provided with the complaint made it clear that 

his personal circumstances were very difficult at the time of the action However, I did not 

believe that the way the Council handled the recovery of his Council Tax debt was faulty.  

 

The Council had had no indication that the complainant was struggling to cope. Although the 

Council had improved its procedures for debt recovery and bankruptcy after the LGO decision, 

the procedures it followed at the time of the complainant’s bankruptcy included a staged 

approach, warnings of the consequences of bankruptcy, and several opportunities in the process 

to pay the balance. It also included advice to seek help from a solicitor or CAB.  

 

In any action the Council must consider what route to recovering the debt is likely to be most 

effective. Other recovery options were considered, including attachment on earnings and 

committal application, but they were thought to be unsuitable for this complainant’s 

circumstances.  

 

I found that the Council had responded positively to the complainant’s requests to make 

arrangements for payment several times in the years before the bankruptcy action. The Council 

had not been given any indication that the complainant  was vulnerable or that he was unable to 

pay the arrears. Over the years he had requested a number of arrangements to pay the arrears, 

and these were agreed each time by the Council.  

 

Page 49



 44

I acknowledged that there is no single definition of ‘vulnerable’. It appears that this varies from 

service to service – vulnerability for the purposes of tenancy or access to property will be 

different to vulnerability for the purposes of paying Council Tax. I noted that in my view it is 

important that officers are attuned to the possibility of vulnerability in the specific context in 

which they work.  

 

I could tell that the information provided with the complaint demonstrated the complainant’s 

difficult family circumstances and his inability to manage due to medication, and I concluded 

that he may well have been vulnerable at the time. With the information the Council had at the 

time, however, there was no indication that he was unable to manage. It could have been seen 

as unnecessarily intrusive for the Council to question his ability to manage when, by all 

accounts, he was informing the Council that he was managing.  

 

 

5.2 Council Tax – bank charges  

 

The complaint and response 

The complainant was charged £135 by her bank in overdraft charges, which she says was due 

to the Council taking two monthly Council Tax payments out at once, without notifying her in 

advance.  

 

The Council acknowledged that it had made an error in not notifying her, but the payments 

were due so it was entitled to take them. The Council was willing to refund her bank charges 

and requested evidence of the charges showing that they related to this un-notified payment.  

 

The complainant submitted bank statements but many of the entries were blacked out for 

privacy. She was reluctant to provide unaltered bank statements. The Council suggested that 

she obtain a letter from her bank confirming that the charges related to the Council Tax 

payment, but she was reluctant to do this. 

 

The Council escalated the complaint to me because it felt it had done all it could to resolve 

matters.  

 

My findings and outcome 

I examined the complaint and wrote to the complainant indicating that I believe a reasonable 

suggestion had been made that would meet her justified concerns for privacy and the Council’s 

justified need for evidence. I suggested that she could obtain a copy of the pre-notification 

letter from her bank, or request that her bank provide a letter confirming that the £135 charge 

made resulted from the payment to the Council Tax section. The complainant was unhappy 

with this suggestion, and she said she had incurred additional charges because of having to 

cancel her direct debits. I explained that the decision to cancel her direct debits was an issue for 

her, not for the Council. 

 

I did not uphold her complaint. I acknowledged her justified concern for privacy but noted that 

this needed to be balanced against the Council’s need for evidence before refunding any 

charges. I clarified with her what evidence the Council would accept. 

 

Page 50



 45

Post-decision 

The complainant subsequently asked the LGO to investigate. The LGO found no evidence of 

maladministration. 

 

 

5.3 Council Tax – summons charges 

 

The complaint 

The complainant questioned that her Council Tax for the year 2007-08 was in arrears. She had 

tried a number of routes to get the matter resolved. She felt that she was being forced to pay 

summons charges needlessly and had intimidating threats of bailiff action. She felt harassed by 

the Council.  

 

The response 

The Council issued the complainant with a summons for unpaid Council Tax. The summons, 

however, was for 39p – the amount of arrears at the time. Therefore technically the Council 

was correct that there were arrears – and it noted that it is not always possible for human 

intervention to replace the automatic issuing of summonses. The Council later removed the 

costs associated with this summons. 

 

My findings and outcome 

I found that the complainant had endeavoured to keep up to date with her payments and at no 

time had she given the Council the impression that she was avoiding paying.  

 

Her payments, however, had been irregular. In light of her erratic payment history, the Council 

attempted in good faith to apportion payments in her best interests. This led to confusion, 

which was then compounded by the summons issued for 39p, which I found was poor handling 

even though the Council was technically entitled to take that action.  

 

I did not uphold the complaint. I believed that the Council’s offer to remove any costs from the 

account now was a reasonable offer. In addition, I asked the Council to arrange a payment plan 

for the outstanding amount that would allow the complainant to pay this off in three monthly 

instalments, as clearly it was never her intention to avoid paying this.  

 

 

6. Other complaints 
 

Other categories of complaints involved a range of issues – tree work, parking, and  private-

sector leasing. Here is a selection. 

 

6.1 Tree works - apology and explanation – Council and RegenterB3 

 

The complaint 

A resident was unhappy with the way work to trees near his property had been carried out. He 

said that he and other residents had not been consulted about the work and the reasons for it, 

and the work had been unnecessary and had gone further than the plans had described. He felt 

that the Council’s actions showed a disregard towards the needs or feelings of the residents 

Page 51



 46

 

The Council’s view 

Regenter B3 noted that urban trees have to be maintained for the safety of the people and 

wellbeing of the trees. It said that the reason for the works to the trees was not as a result of any 

issues relating to undermining or threatening nearby properties, but solely due to the 

complaints received. 

 

The Council explained that given the extent of the work necessary, the number of trees and the 

fact that work had not been carried out for some time, local residents and the local conservation 

society were notified of the work. 

 

My findings and outcome 

I partially upheld the complaint. I noted that the Council is entitled to carry out work it deems 

necessary to trees on land in the borough where it is responsible for maintaining this. This 

extends to its partner organisations to whom the responsibility is delegated by the Council – in 

this case Regenter B3. I clarified with the complainant that I was not able to question the 

decision on what work is necessary, which is a professional judgement the Council is entitled 

to make, and in any case is outside my expertise. 

 

I found, however, that the explanations provided to the complainant had been inadequate. I 

believed that he had been treated badly in the response he received, which included inaccurate 

explanations for the reason why the work was carried out, a reference to a final inspection for 

which there was no evidence and no response to his query about future consultation. I asked for 

the Council to use this complaint as an opportunity to improve its procedures relating to 

residents’ concerns about tree maintenance in the borough. I also recommended that it write to 

the complainant with an apology for the time and trouble he had gone to on getting a response. 

 

The Council was resistant to this recommendation, and this case became one of several 

examples where the Council was, in my view, overly defensive about issuing a genuine 

apology. The Council disagreed with my conclusion and was concerned that it was raising 

expectations of residents in terms of their rights to be consulted. The failures were not major 

ones but were significant to the complainant. I saw no reason for the Council to feel aggrieved 

at being asked to apologise for the failures. 

 

6.2 Faulty lights – safety 

 

The complaint 

This complaint related to faulty lights in a public area. The complainant, a local resident, was 

concerned about safety at night and requested the lights to be repaired. In the stage 2 response 

to his complaint he was told that the lights had been fixed. In fact, some lights had been fixed, 

but not the ones he had complained about. He was annoyed at being forced to pursue a 

complaint to stage 3 in order to get the problem addressed. 

 

The response 

The Council noted that there had been delays in identifying who was responsible for 

maintenance of the lights, and this led to delays in repairs being carried out. Highways had 

mistakenly thought that the complaint related to lights on the footway, which fall 

Page 52



 47

under Highways responsibility. The lights in the Gardens, which were the faulty lights he 

complained of, are not part of Highways’ responsibility. The complaint highlighted for the 

Council that the lights in Cornmill Gardens were not being maintained by anybody.   

 

The Council explained that although the defective lights in this particular location would not 

normally be repaired by Street Lighting, it would agreed to carry out the work as soon as 

possible. 

 

My findings and outcome 

I upheld the complaint because I believed he should not have had to raise a stage 3 complaint 

with me in order to get this matter resolved. Had the exact location of the lights complained 

about been clarified with the complainant at the start, the matter could have been resolved 

earlier. 

 

However, I noted that the complaint raised difficult issues for the Council in that it had to 

clarify who has responsibility for these lights. I was pleased with their response in the end: the 

Council accepted that allocating responsibility is not your concern, they committed to repairing 

the lights, and they met with the complainant to ensure they understood which lights were in 

need of repair – all these were positive and constructive steps. 

 

 

6.3 Private-sector leasing – dispute resolution 

 

The Private Sector Leasing Scheme provides for the Council to lease a property from an owner 

which it then rents out to one of its tenants (the sub-tenant). The scheme is also subject to 

targets on how many properties of a certain type will be leased.  

 

The complaint 

The complainant was the owner of a three-bedroom property, and in she entered into a three-

year tenancy agreement (lease) as part of the Council’s Private Sector Leasing Scheme. The 

lease came to an end three years later. 

The complainant told me that the property was leased as a two-bedroom house with the 

understanding that a three-bedroom house was not in demand by Lewisham Council. Yet all 

three bedrooms were occupied by the sub-tenant, and the complainant believed she was entitled 

to more rent than was paid because the property was let as a two-bedroom and all three 

bedrooms were used. 

 

She also alleged that the property had not been maintained to a reasonable standard and as a 

result a number of repairs were required before the property could be re-let. The problems, she 

felt, were due to negligence on the part of the Council for not surveying the property 

throughout the lease as required by the lease. 

 

The Council had provided a list of dilapidation costs in its stage 2 response to the complaint. 

The complainant disagreed with these. She was also concerned that a broken down car was left 

by the previous tenant on the drive. This was not removed for some time, and therefore the 

complainant believed that part of the property was still in the Council’s possession until then, 

and further rent should be paid. 

Page 53



 48

 

The response 

The Council explained that the property was regarded as being in 'fair' condition when they 

took it on, and the bathroom and kitchen were new. The property would have needed only 

minimal work to re-let it. There was no requirement upon the Council to redecorate or renew 

carpets at the end of the lease. Nevertheless, the Council offered a sum of about £160 as a 

contribution to a number of repairs. 

 

The Council explained that the lease itself does not specify the size of the property. The lease is 

for the whole property.  Rooms are not sealed off and there is no prohibition against sub-

tenants using the entire property. 

 

Regarding the abandoned vehicle, Council officers attempted to contact the former tenants to 

remove the car and were advised that it would be moved. This did not happen, and the 

Abandoned Vehicles team were asked to investigate. They are required by law to provide a 

seven-day notice of the intention to remove an abandoned vehicle. The car was removed within 

the seven days’ notice period.  

 

My findings and outcome 

I explained that I am could not determine if any repairs resulted as a lack of inspection by 

Council officers. Nor was I able to determine whether repairs were necessary as a result of 

damage by the sub-tenants.  

 

Given the uncertainty as to who was responsible for the specified repairs, it was not a clear-cut 

claim. However, I believed that a reasonable settlement could be reached. Therefore it was not 

a case of upholding or not upholding this aspect of the complaint. I found no evidence of a 

failure on the Council’s part, nor did I find any fault on the complainant’s part in pursuing this 

matter because she felt the sum offered was inadequate. 

 

I did not uphold the aspect of the complaint relating to the use of three bedrooms and the claim 

that increased rent should have been obtained from the Council. 

 

I think it is reasonable for the Council to have given a limited amount of time to the former 

sub-tenants to remove their car before the Council started enforcement action. However, 

negotiations seemed to carry on for a lengthy time. The statutory seven-day notice was not 

served until more than three weeks after the complainant informed the Council.  

 

I considered that the car was in the drive for longer than it needed to be, and therefore I upheld 

this aspect of the complaint.  

 

I proposed as a reasonable settlement that the Council pay the complainant £500, in addition to 

the sum of approximately £150 it had already paid to her. The total of £650 reflected a lump 

sum for minor repairs and a sum to recognise that the Council could have acted more promptly 

to deal with the sub-tenants’ vehicle in the drive. 

 

Page 54



 49

I proposed that alternatively, the complainant could submit detailed costings of specific repairs 

(providing receipts or paid invoices) for me to consider, and I would then propose an amount 

that I think would be reasonable for the Council to pay towards these costs. 

 

I therefore provided two options: to accept £500, plus the £150 already paid, as compensation; 

or to provide receipts and invoices for me to consider an amount for to be reimbursed by the 

Council. 

 

Post-decision 

The complainant decided to accept the additional £500 compensation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 50

Appendix 2 
 

 
 
 

Page 56



 51Page 57



 52Page 58



 53

 

Page 59



Top 3 reasons for complaints by Ward       Appendix 3 

 54

 
 
* Based on the post code of the complainant

P
age 60



   
   

  

 55

           Appendix 4 

Directorate Achievements 2010-11 
 

1. Things that have been put in place to improve the quality of complaints 
handling 

 
CYP  
 

• We offer on the spot resolutions to avoid a complaint from escalating wherever 
possible, as this is good for the customer as well as the service. 

• We have developed a service culture where we value complaints and recognise the 
importance of managing them well. 

 
Community Services 
 

• In September 2010 the Council received a complaint about the administration of a 
relating to anti-social behaviour. One of the recommendations of the investigating 
officer was for the Crime Reduction Service to produce a document to give to 
residents setting out clearly the parameters/scope of its service and operation as a 
means of communicating its role, powers and practices and averting 
misunderstanding of these. This was completed in line with the inception of the new 
Neighbourhood Community Safety Service.  

 

• Following a complaint received in February 2011 about Sport & Leisure Services, a 
member of a local sports club is now invited to attend site monitoring visits of the 
facilities the club uses along with the Council’s monitoring officer and Council’s 
contractor.  

 
Customer Services 
 

• Scanning all paperwork on the investigation of cases dealt with by the Casework 
Team onto the case on iCasework. This enables other users to have a full view of 
the investigation and is helpful to refer to when a complaint is escalated or when 
there is a long period of time between complaints. 

 
Lewisham Homes 
 

• We introduced an informal complaints stage in April 2010. Over the year we 
recorded 232 informal complaints, only 11% of which were unable to be resolved 
at this stage. Over the same period our stage 1 and 2 complaints have reduced by 
more than a third, much of which may be attributable to our successfully dealing 
with complaints earlier.  

 

• We introduced a ‘Learning from feedback’ process including: 
o checklist for stage 1 follow up actions and learning points at case closure; 
o learning report for discussion in team meetings – this process evolved over the 

year and now includes in-depth analysis of stage 2 and 3 complaints, the main 
reasons for escalation as well as relevant feedback from surveys and  mystery 
shopping; 

o a six monthly learning report for our Corporate Leadership team with trends and 
analysis. 

 
Regeneration 
 

Page 61



   
   

  

 56

• To ensure thorough investigation occurs when complaints are escalated to stage 2, 
a response template was introduced in order to guide officers. This has enabled the 
casework team to ask more specific questions of the services involved and to 
ensure all aspects of a customers complaint have been addressed.  

 

• The results of quality checking undertaken by the Corporate Complaints Team are 
regularly discussed with the Head of Strategy and Performance to identify areas for 
improvement.   

 

2. Lessons learnt from upheld complaints 
 
CYP  
 

• Complaint about the unnecessary length it has taken to review a child’s Statement 
of SEN, and the fact that she has no school place confirmed for Sept 2010 term, 
despite it being one month from the end of term.  

 
Service agreed that there should be a more robust monitoring system 
developed to ensure formal review meetings take place when expected and 
scheduled. 

 
Community Services 
 

• In September 2010 the Council received a complaint about the administration of a 
Direct Payment. There had been a significant delay in any money being paid, and a 
further delay until the correct amount was paid. This complaint fed directly into the 
programme of transformation currently being undertaken by adult social care.. The 
concerns raised by the customer have informed the way the Council communicates 
with service users about Direct Payments and now, individual budgets as well.  

 
Customer Services 
 

• Dealing with clients and their legal representatives - Previously in homeless 
cases where the client is supported by a legal representative, the Council has only 
corresponded with the representative.  However following a complaint upheld by 
the LGO, the Council has changed the way it makes contact with homeless clients 
and now makes sure that they also receive a copy of any decisions made 

 
Lewisham Homes 
 

• Reviewing the process for dealing with condensation cases (followed up with an 
article on preventing condensation in April issue of Home magazine) 

 

• Organise pest control road-show to customer facing staff to achieve greater clarity 
about Lewisham Homes/ Lewisham council responsibilities 

 

• To minimise delays and achieve more ‘first fix’ repairs: 
� Produce report to check on jobs awaiting materials prior to booked 

appointment  
� Improved pre-inspection process for complex jobs   
� Revised Repairs guide detailing residents responsibilities, DIY tips and 

diagrams to assist diagnosis when reporting a repair. 
 
Regeneration 

Page 62



   
   

  

 57

 

• To try to make better use of the Council’s website and other forms of social media 
to advertise Transport consultations. 

 

• Review processes relating to Planning enforcement to ensure that where actions 
have been agreed, they are tracked and monitored 

 
 

3.   Future objectives in your area for the improvement of complaints  
management: 

 
CYP  
 

• Analysing the root causes of complaints, addressing those causes and 
implementing lessons learnt. 

 

• Spreading a progressive vision for complaints handling across Services; with the 
aim of improving how they identify, capture and assess complaints 

 
Community Services 
 

• Ensure learning from complaints is recorded and fed back to service leads and 
other relevant officers. To assist with this the Customer Relations team are 
implementing a tracking and monitoring form for follow up actions and remedies 

 

• Implement a rolling programme of SMT visits to deliver good practice guidance and 
impress the need for an ongoing focus on quality and accuracy. 

 
Customer Services 
 

• To undertake in-depth trend analysis to work with and support Service Areas in 
identifying and reducing complaints. 

• To assist Service Areas in understanding the financial cost of dealing with 
complaints and incentivise teams to approach complaints with improved speed and 
efficiency.  

 
Lewisham Homes 
 

• We have recently introduced stage 2 and 3 investigation checklists to provide a 
clear evidence trail of previous investigation when cases are escalated. This should 
reduce the time taken to investigate cases at the next stage.  

 

• Improve quality of responses, ensuring all issues are addressed:  
� Delivering complaints investigation training throughout July 2011 
� Delivering letter writing training throughout July and August 2011 

 
Regeneration 
 

• Ensuring widespread use of response templates for stage 1 complaints.  
 

• Making better use of the ‘follow up actions’ on iCasework to ensure that actions are 
undertaken.   

 
 

Page 63



   
   

  

 58

Appendix 5 
 
 

Local Government Ombudsman – neighbouring borough performance 
 
 

 

Page 64



   Corporate Complaints Action Plan 2011/12     

 59

Appendix 6 
 

Audit 
No. 

Recommendation Origin  Lead 
Person 

Action taken Target 
date 

Status of 
action  

2.1a 
 

Unless a full response to a complaint can be given 
immediately, the complaint should be 
acknowledged within two working days and 
recorded on iCasework, in accordance with the 
complaints guidance procedure 

Internal 
Audit 

Jennifer 
Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

Guidance on the need to complete records to staff 
reissued through the corporate complaints 
improvement group (CCIG) 
 
Monitoring of performance will be a regular item 
on the CCIG agenda 

August 
2011  

 

closed 

2.1b 
 

For quality monitoring purposes, an explanation 
on iCasework for not being able to meet required 
response dates should be mandatory 
 

Internal 
Audit 

Jennifer 
Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

Advice given to all users to ensure that an 
explanation is given in the notes field of 
iCasework 
 
Corporate Complaints team will monitor relevant 
cases to check that these instructions are being 
followed. 

Sept 2011 
 

closed 

2.1c 
 

Service areas should be reminded to record all 
comments, complaints and compliments to 
iCasework at stage one 
 

Internal 
Audit 

Jennifer 
Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

Highlight the importance of recording all 
comments, complaints and compliments to 
iCasework at stage one, through various 
mediums, such as CCIG, learning events and 
corporate sharepoint. Extensive training program 
in place. 

 Sept 2011 
 

closed 

2.1d 
 

Consideration should be given to the need to 
provide further training in respect of the written 
response to comment/complaint letters, to free 
them from jargon and to make them more 
personal and sympathetic. The emphasis should 
be on ensuring that the communication is 
responded to thoroughly to prevent potential 
escalation to a complaint. 

Internal 
Audit 

Jennifer 
Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

Training has been provided and will continue to be 
included as part of the training program and 
monitored through ongoing targeted quality 
checking 

August 
2011  
 

ongoing 

3.1 
 

Criteria for assessing and clarifying comments 
and complaints should be formalised and both 
comment and response should consistently be 
recorded on iCasework 
 

Internal 
Audit 

Jennifer 
Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

This has been identified as part of this years 
annual service plan. The corporate complaints 
manager will work with CCIG to design and 
implement the framework. The draft framework 
will be discussed and signed off at CCIG 

December 
2011 

 

 

4.1a Completion of fields within iCasework should be Internal Jennifer Follow on actions have already been discussed by deferred deferred 

P
age 65



   Corporate Complaints Action Plan 2011/12     

 60

Audit 
No. 

Recommendation Origin  Lead 
Person 

Action taken Target 
date 

Status of 
action  

 made mandatory or level of management review 
and sign off stepped up to ensure that the 
appropriate amount of information has been 
recorded and appropriate action has been taken 

Audit Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

the CCIG. However due to cost implications, the 
fields cannot be made mandatory on iCasework. 
Further discussions will take place within CCIG to 
find a workable solution 

4.1b 
 

As a positive step in showing that the Council 
cares and is listening, comments that have 
resulted in a change in policy or procedure should 
be actively publicised and updated 

Internal 
Audit 

Jennifer 
Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

Will be reiterated at CCIG. Emails will be sent and 
information included on the website. 
 

March 
2012 
 

ongoing 

5.1 
 

If there continues to be a poor response, 
customer sent surveys should where possible be 
contacted by phone to determine why they have 
not responded to the survey form 
 

Internal 
Audit 

Jennifer 
Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

Analysis of the response rate will take place 
during 2011/2012.  The effectiveness and 
methodology of the survey will be evaluated and 
fed back to CCIG.     

By October 
2011 
 

open 

1 Ensure that all officers dealing with complaints, 
especially those at stage one and stage two of the 
complaints process, include an analysis of the 
complaint on file: the analysis to show the key 
steps taken in the investigation of the complaint; 
the evidence used to determine it; a summary of 
the officer’s views of the complaint; and eventually 
the final outcome. 

IA report 
2009/2010 

All  This was discussed at CCIG and officers felt that 
this approach would be too labour intensive and 
they did not have the resource to undertake this 
task for each case.  Therefore it was decided that 
the best way forward, would be to ensure that all 
paperwork relating to the case would be uploaded 
onto iCasework.  

March 
2012 

closed 

2 Ensure record keeping – especially on repairs – is 
improved, so that the Council and its partners 
know and can demonstrate what has been done 
when. 
 

IA report 
2009/2010 

LH/RB3 All repairs are logged on Equipe’s /Rydon’s 
repairs data base – Planet FM. This system 
records all repairs completed and can easily be 
tracked via Planet FM as well as LBL officers, 
(once the permits to view have been completed). 

March 
2012 

open 

3 Ensure good communication across all partner 
bodies so that key information – on repairs, on 
tenancy issues or on disabilities, for example – is 
shared by all those who need to know and can act 
on such information. 

IA report 
2009/2010 

LH/RB3 Apart from the official monthly internal operations 
team meeting between all partners of RB3, RB3 
has installed weekly ‘coffee morning’ meetings to 
discuss relevant issues at hand, to foster better 
internal communications. 

March 
2012 

open 

4 Log all repairs and record the outcome of repair 
works. Such records should be retained for at 
least six years, in accordance with the statutory 

IA report 
2009/2010 

LH/RB3 All repairs are logged on Planet FM and the 
records of these repairs are kept for the required 
six year period. 

March 
2012 

open 

P
age 66



   Corporate Complaints Action Plan 2011/12     

 61

Audit 
No. 

Recommendation Origin  Lead 
Person 

Action taken Target 
date 

Status of 
action  

timeframe for disrepair claims. 
 

5 Put in place consistent and user-friendly 
procedures for making insurance claims and 
consider such claims properly, following the 
approach used by the Council. 
 

IA report 
2009/2010 

RB3 Information regarding insurance claims are being 
imparted to residents via the housing managers 
as well as communicated by newsletters and 
information in the resident handbook and will also 
be available on the website, when it is completed. 

March 
2012 

open 

6 Identify early on whether the complaint is one the 
Council can deal with, and if not to signpost to an 
appropriate alternative source of support or help 

IA report 
2010/2011 

All The IA will produce FAQ’s which will assist in 
ensuring whether the complaint is for the Council. 
The website will be updated regularly with the 
relevant information 

March 
2102 

open 

7 Ensure that recommendations involving 
procedural changes are followed up and the IA is 
kept informed of improvements made as a result 
of stage 3 decisions; 

IA report 
2010/2011 

Corporate 
complaints 
officer/All 

The IA protocol is under review to make more 
robust.  

March 
2012 

open 

8 Review the guidance on apologies that has been 
produced in previous years, based on guidance 
from the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman 

IA report 
2010/2011 

Jennifer 
Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

Provide relevant training using guidelines set out 
by the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman. 
Make use of the website and intranet. Corporate 
complaints policy currently under review, which 
will include a section on apologies 

March 
2012 

 

9 Carry out limited research on stage 2 complaints 
to determine if improvements in complaint 
handling there and better resolution have led to 
the decrease in stage 3 complaints this year and 
might do the same in the future: the research 
comprising contacting those who had a stage 2 
complaint but did not progress it to stage 3; 

IA report 
2010/2011 

Jennifer 
Greaux – 
Corporate 
Complaints 
Manager 

Review the stage 2 cases that did not escalate to 
stage 3. 
 
Investigate the effectiveness of use of mediation 

in children’s and adult social care. 

March 
2012 

 

10 Explain to housing applicants the reasons for 
medical decisions as well as the decision itself; 

IA report 
2010/2011 

Karen Shaw A meeting is planned to discuss this issue.  A 
letter has been drafted and discussion will take 
place on how best to implement. 

March 
2012 

 

11 Consider how planning officers might 
communicate more effectively with residents 
about particular developments, providing a plan of 
action and keeping them informed of progress. 
 

IA report 
2010/2011 

Gavin 
Cooper -
Planning 
Manager 

The Planning Service will be shortly reviewing 
how we consult & communicate with residents.  At 
present, how planning communicates is set out in 
the council's Statement of Community 
Involvement.  As part of the restructure, 2 new 

March 
2012 

 

P
age 67



   Corporate Complaints Action Plan 2011/12     

 62

Audit 
No. 

Recommendation Origin  Lead 
Person 

Action taken Target 
date 

Status of 
action  

posts of Business Improvement & Stakeholder 
Manager and Customer Liaison Officer have been 
created specifically to address Localism issues 
and ensure Planning Services are built around the 
needs of applicants, residents and other planning 
stakeholders.  Following a discussion at Full 
Council we have amended our practice that 
everyone who attends a local meeting is notified, 
if necessary, of a Planning Committee.  A 
Customer Charter is being produced.  Software is 
also been implemented this year which will allow 
residents to be alerted if a planning application is 
made in a particular area. 

12 Consider in private-sector leasing complaints 
using the dispute procedure set out in the lease. 
 

IA report 
2010/2011 

Morna 
London 

This procedure is used when deemed appropriate.  
However, if and when disputes have been raised 
it has been found to be more effective and better 
value for money to use the council's own 
complaints procedure. 

March 
2012 

 

 

P
age 68



`` 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

Report Title 
 

Compliance with the Member Code of Conduct 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 4 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Kath Nicholson, Monitoring Officer 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date:  7 DECEMBER 2011 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
 This report deals with the way in which Members address the need to comply 

with the Lewisham Member Code of Conduct and seeks the Committee’s 
views about whether any amendment to practice is required or further 
information brought to the Committee’s attention 

 
 
2. Purpose 
 
 The purpose of this report is to give information about the extent of 

compliance with the Lewisham Member Code of Conduct and to seek from 
the Committee any views about how practice in Lewisham could be improved. 

 
 
3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 To consider the information set out in this report and to consider whether to 

make any recommendations to the Council in respect of the effectiveness of 
the Member Code of Conduct. 

 
3.2 To amend the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy as set out in paragraph 8 and 

Appendix  2. 
 
4. Background 
 
4.1 On the 18th July 2007 the Council formally adopted a revised Code of 

Conduct. It complies with the statutory requirement to adopt a code which 
incorporates all the elements which are required by the Local Authorities 
(Model Code of Conduct) Order 2007. By virtue of section 51 Local 
Government Act 2000, authorities are required to adopt a Code within 6 
months of the above Order being made.  

. 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 69



4.2 The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct has appended to it a number of 
protocols: 

 

• Member and Officer relations 

• Member Use of IT 

• Planning and Lobbying 

• Code on Publicity 
 

These protocols do not form part of the Code, but may be of assistance in 
deciding whether there has been a breach of the Code’s main provisions. 
 

 
5. Assessment of Current Practice 
 
 Officers have looked at elements of practice by Lewisham members to  
 establish whether practice fits the requirements of the Code. 
 
5.1 A statutory requirement to undertake to comply with the Member Code of 

Conduct 
 
(i)   All members of the Council, (including those who are co-opted members) 

have signed a declaration that they undertake to comply with the Member 
Code of Conduct.  Such a declaration is signed by members immediately 
following election (and very soon after appointment in the case of co-
opted members).  These declarations are held by the Monitoring Officer, 
and are in the appropriate format to comply with the Local Elections 
(Declaration of Acceptance of Office) Order 2001. 

 
 

5.2 Declarations of Interest 
 
i)    One of the key features of the Member Code of Conduct is the 

requirement to declare a personal interest at any meeting where a 
member has such an interest, and to withdraw from the meeting and not 
seek to influence the decision further if the interest is a prejudicial one. 

 
  ii)       Broadly, a personal interest is one which affects the wellbeing or  
 financial position of the member, their family relatives or friends (etc) 

more than it affects others in their ward.  A prejudicial interest is a 
personal interest which a member of the public in possession of the 
relevant facts would reasonably think is so significant and particular that it 
is likely to affect the member’s judgement of the public interest. Under the 
new Code even where a prejudicial interest arises members who are 
representing their constituents by making representations are able to 
address the Committee as long as they withdraw at the end of their 
representations. This has been invoked on one occasion. 

 
iii)    An assessment has been conducted of the number of declarations that 

have been made since November 2010. The focus has been meetings of 
the Mayor and Cabinet (including Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)) and the 

Page 70



Planning Committees.  The emphasis has been placed on these 
meetings as they are the major decision making fora.  All declarations of 
interest are minuted by the Committee Clerk in attendance and a review 
of the minutes shows the following results: 

 
     Declaration       Withdrew 
       (personal interest)  (i.e. prejudicial interest) 

Mayor & Cabinet    27   18  
  
 
M&C (Contracts)   8   4 

 
Planning Committees       6   3 
 
Council         18   3 

 
 

iv)   It is apparent that there is a clear awareness that members must  
consider whether to declare and withdraw, as the incidence of such  
practice shows.   
 
As previously considered and agreed by this Committee a notice 
now appears at the front of each agenda which details the circumstances 
in which a personal/prejudicial interest can arise. Members have 
commented that they find this notice to be a helpful reminder and concise 
summary of their responsibilities on declaring interests.  
 

5.3 Advice on Ethical Issues 
 
 i)     Some of the declarations/withdrawals referred to in paragraph 5.2  

above followed a request for advice from the Monitoring Officer, or her 
representative.  However, several were made without even an approach, 
as the member concerned was of the view that an interest existed without 
the need for such advice. 

 
ii) Where possible, if Code of Conduct issues arise, Monitoring Officer 

advice is incorporated into reports. 
 
iii) There is a body of evidence which demonstrates that members are 

aware of Code of Conduct issues as this is embodied in the number 
and nature of ad hoc requests for advice from the Monitoring Officer.  A 
review of that file shows that councillors have sought advice on Code 
of Conduct issues arising. 

 
The range of  matters includes: 

 

• training session and briefing note to members on the implications of 
members being involved in outside bodies 

 

• briefing note to all members on the Bribery Act 2010 

Page 71



 

• training and briefing note to members on the new public sector equality 
duty and consultation for Council decision making 

 

• advice to all members on the referendum and issues arising during the 
referendum period 

 

• advice to all members in the run up to a local by-election 
 

• various advices to members in relation to potential personal/prejudicial 
interests which affect their ability to participate in considering various 
matters 

 

• advice on extended absence of a member 
 

• advice in relation to carers’ allowances to members and  possible 
amendment to the Members’ Allowance Scheme 

 

• advice to a member on a potential conflict of interest for him in relation to 
his attendance and participation at an award ceremony  

 

• advices to members in relation to disturbance by protestors against budget 
cuts at Council meeting ; and subsequent advices to limit the possibility of 
future disturbances 

 

• advices to members in relation to potential interests in considering 
planning applications  

 

• advices to  members in relation to issues where a member is volunteering 
 

•  advice to a member in relation to the chairing of committees 
 

• advice to the Chair of Council in relation to his report to Council 
 

• advice in relation to filming of planning committee 
 

• advice to members on Code of Conduct issues in relation to the 
establishment of social enterprises and co-operatives 

 
In all of the instances referred to the Monitoring Officer above, she believes 
that the advice given has been followed.  A written record of all Monitoring 
Officer advice given is kept. 

 
5.4 Dispensation 
 

There have been no applications for dispensation.  
 
 
5.5 The Members’ Register of Interests 

Page 72



 
The need to register any of the following interests in the Members’ Register of 
Interests is also a key feature of the Member Code of Conduct. 
 
(a) any employment, or business carried on by him/her; 
 
(b) the name of the person who employs or has appointed him/her, the 

name of any firm in which he/she is a partner, and the name of any 
company for which he/she is a remunerated director; 

 
(c) the name of any person, other than a relevant authority, who has made 

a payment to him/her in respect of his/her election or any expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her duties; 

 
(d) the name of any corporate body which has a place of business or land 

in the authority's area where the member has a beneficial interest in a 
class of securities of that body which exceeds the value of £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; 

 
(e) a description of any contract for goods, services or works made 

between the authority and him/herself, a firm in which he/she is a 
partner, a company of which he/she is a director, or a body of the 
description in paragraph (d) above; 

 
(f) the interests of any person from whom they have received a gift or 

hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25;  
 

(g) the address or other description (sufficient to identify the location) of 
any land in which he/she has a beneficial interest and which is in the 
area of the authority; 

 
(h) the address or other description (sufficient to identify the location) of 

any land where the landlord is the authority and the tenant is a firm in 
which he/she is a partner, a company of which he/she is a remunerated 
director, or a body of the description in sub-paragraph (d); 

 
(i) the address or other description (sufficient to identify the location) of 

any land in the authority's area in which he/she has a licence (alone or 
jointly with others) to occupy for 28 days or longer 
 

There are entries for all members and an annual reminder is also sent to all 
members about the need to keep this up to date.  All members have 
submitted a completed Declaration of Interest which now includes a section 
requesting information in relation to gifts and hospitality.  
 
Individual returns are now available on the Council website. 
www.lewisham.gov.uk  
 
 

5.6 Hospitality & Gifts   

Page 73



  
 Under the Member Code of Conduct members are required to provide details 

of any gift or hospitality over the value of £25 and the source of such gift or 
hospitality that they receive as a member. The Code requires that within 28 
days  of receiving any gift  or hospitality  over the value of £25 that they notify 
the Monitoring Officer of the existence and nature of the gift or hospitality. 

 
 For the purpose of this review relevant entries for the previous year in the 

relevant section of the Register of Interests have been perused in an attempt 
to establish recent and current compliance with the requirements of the Code 
of Conduct. It appears that incidents of registration is quite common and the 
section is completed. This tends to indicate that members have a clear 
recognition of their need to make relevant entries. 

  
 Individual returns are now available on the Council website. 

www.lewisham.gov.uk 
  
  
6. Complaints of breach of the Member Code of Conduct 
 
6.1 Complaints of breach must be made to the Monitoring Officer, and there is a 

dedicated email address for this to be done. This is widely publicised on the 
Council’s website where there is a direct link alongside the Complaints 
Procedure. The address is monitoring.officer@lewisham.gov.uk. 

 
6.2 Perhaps the most telling indicator of the extent of compliance with the 

Member Code of Conduct is the number of complaints of breach made to the 
Council.  Since May 2008 all written complaints that a member has breached 
the Code of Conduct are for the Standards Committee to consider initially. 
There has been four formal complaints, three being against one councillor and 
one against another. One complaint against each councillor was found not to 
merit investigation. One matter is currently being reconsidered by the 
Assessment Sub Committee. In the other instance , the matter proceeded to a 
formal hearing; the allegation was found partially to be substantiated and the 
Sub Committee recommended action by the Council.  

 
6.3 The action was:  (i) that the councillor apologise to the complainant in the 

form required by the Hearing Sub Committee. He did so on 5th July 2011. 
   (ii) that the councillor attend training in duties and 
responsibilities in relation to equalities legislation and chairing skills in relation 
to public meetings.  There has been some difficulties sourcing this but it has 
been arranged by Member Development for January 2012. 

        (iii) that the Council review the advice given in relation to 
the governance of Assemblies and their coordinating groups, with particular 
reference to chairing and the respective roles of officers and members. 
Amended advice was circulated by the Executive Director Community 
Services.   

  
 

 

Page 74



7. Whistleblowing Complaints 
 

If there were complaints of alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct by 
members, it may be that they would arise through the Council’s 
whistleblowing policy, which is well embedded.  This Committee has so far 
received eight annual reports on whistleblowing cases.  As is evident from 
those reports none of the complaints have referred to members.  Had they 
done so, the Monitoring Officer would have advised the complainant of their 
right to refer the matter to her for possible consideration by the Standards 
Committee.  
 
It is proposed that the Whistleblowing Policy be amended as set out in 
Appendix 1 to reflect the changes necessary as a consequence of the 
implementation of the Bribery Act 2010 and is also amended generally to 
reflect staff changes. 

 
8. Bribery Act 2010 
 
8.1 The Bribery Act 2010 came into force in July 2011 and the Act modernises the 

law on bribery.  The Act creates an offence to offer, promise or give a financial 
or other advantage where the person doing so ‘knows or believes’ that the 
acceptance of the advantage would itself constitute the improper performance 
of a relevant function or activity, which includes the usual local authority 
functions and activities.  A briefing note on the Bribery Act is attached at  
Appendix 1 to this report. 

 
8.2 To reflect the introduction of the Bribery Act 2010 it is necessary for the 

Whistleblowing Policy to be amended. A revised version of the Whistleblowing 
Policy is attached at Appendix 2 which reflects the changes consequent on 
the introduction of the Bribery Act 2010. Changes to reflect the Council 
restructuring and changes in personnel are also proposed. Members are 
requested to agree the proposed changes. 
 
  

9. Legal Implications 
 
 The ethical framework under which the measures set out in this report have 

been established are provided in the Local Government Act 2000 and 
Regulations made under it. The Localism Act 2011 will amend the standards 
regime fundamentally. Though it is anticipated that there will still be a Register 
of Members’ Interests, its content may vary once regulations are made. The 
Member Code of Conduct  provided it complies with general principles will be 
a matter of local discretion though officers advise that measures such as the 
hospitality register, whistleblowing policy, advice from the Monitoring Officer 
on specific items remain in force.   

 
 
10. Financial Implications 
 
 There are no specific implications arising. 

Page 75



 
 
11. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
 The Code of Conduct deals with the promotion of the highest standards of  
 behaviour, and the prevention of breaches of the Member Code of Conduct 
 which may well amount to criminal behaviour. 
 
13. Human Rights Act Implications 
 
 There are no specific implications arising. 
 
14. Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
 There are no specific implications arising. 

 
15. Environmental Implications 
 
 There are no specific implications arising. 
 
 
16. Conclusion 
 
 The Member Code of Conduct appears to be well embedded in Lewisham.  

Evidence seems to suggest a high level of compliance.  Members of the 
Standards Committee are asked for their views on this data, and to make any 
further comments they consider appropriate to improve practice. 

 
 

Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



 

 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
Report Title 

 
LOCALISM ACT 2011 

 
Key Decision 

 
 

 
Item: 5 

 
Ward 

 
All 

 
Contributors 

 
Head of Law 

 
Class 

 
Open 
 

 
Date:  7 December 2011 

 
 
1. Summary 
 

This report outlines the provisions relating to the ethical framework in 
Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. It highlights the key changes to the 
existing regime and some of the decisions which the Council will have 
to make to give effect to the new regime, when it is in force.  

 
2. Purpose 
 

The purpose of the report is to update the Standards Committee on the 
changing state of the law and to seek the Committee’s preliminary 
views on the future of standards in Lewisham.  

 
3. Recommendations 
 

That the Committee : 
 

3.1 note the report; 
 
3.2 make any comments to bring to the attention of the Council at this 

stage; 
 
3.3 ask officers to bring a more detailed report on proposals for a new 

Code of Conduct at the appropriate time; and 
 
3.4 ask officers to bring a more detailed report on proposals for the 

arrangements for the investigation of complaints at the appropriate 
time. 

 
4. Policy Context 
 

The Council is committed to the highest standards of ethical conduct in 
public life. It seeks to promote confidence in the good governance of 
Lewisham, both in the Council and across the public sector. This report 

Agenda Item 5

Page 89



informs the committee of imminent changes to the ethical framework 
imposed by the Localism Act 2011 and aspires to respond to those 
changes in a way that maintains and builds upon the Council’s 
commitment to good governance. 

 
5. Background 
 
5.1 The Local Government Act 2000 introduced a new ethical framework 

for local government, with the deletion of the previous regime, and the 
introduction of Standards Committees, a national regulatory body - 
Standards for England, a national Code of Conduct, and a national 
framework for the investigation of complaints, with a range of sanctions 
available to either the local Standards Committee or Standards for  

 England in the most serious cases. 
 

5.2 Shortly after the General Election, the Coalition Government stated its 
intention to abolish the Standards Board regime, but to provide a safety 
net.  As a result, the law has now been changed by the Localism Act 
2011 which abolishes the existing regime completely. It is the stated 
intention of the Coalition Government that Chapter 7 of the Act, which 
introduces the new provisions, will be effective from April 2012.  If that 
ambitious implementation date is met, (regulations are awaited) then 
from that point, Standards for England, Standards Committees and the 
national Code of local government conduct will be abolished.  
 

5.3 However last minute amendments in the House of Lords rather 
hurriedly changed the size and shape of the safety net that was 
proposed, so that some of the Act’s provisions differ from those 
originally set out in the Bill.  The key features of Chapter 7 are set out 
below. 

 
6 The new ethical framework 
 

A general duty 
 

6.1 The Act places a general obligation on relevant authorities (of whom 
Lewisham is one) to promote and maintain high standards of conduct 
by members and voting co-opted members of the Council including 
elected mayors. 

 
Code of Conduct 
 
A duty to adopt 
 

6.2 In discharging the general obligation, Councils must adopt a code 
which deals with the conduct expected of members and co-opted 
members of the Council when acting in that capacity.  This is a decision 
for full Council.  

Page 90



6.3 Comment – This represents a fundamental change.  Whereas now, the 
Code of Conduct is nationally prescribed, in future, there may well be 
different codes adopted by different authorities. 

 
6.4 Comment – The application of the Code will be narrower than under 

the existing system, which could in certain circumstances apply to 
behaviour of members in some other capacity if there was sufficient 
connection between the behaviour of the member and the office of 
councillor.  However, the full scope of “acting in that capacity” remains 
to be determined.  There are tricky areas. Examples include a 
councillor using council facilities for some disreputable private purpose, 
or disclosing confidential information to friends, or those who use their 
status as councillor to gain private advantage.  

 
6.5 Comment – the limitation to voting members and co-optees means that 

those non-voting members of scrutiny committees will not be covered 
by the Code.  Though a Council could ask them to be bound by the 
Code (and perhaps not appoint them if they do not so undertake) it 
would be a non-statutory process.  

 
6.6 Comment – the requirement for councillors to undertake to abide by the 

Code of Conduct on acceptance of office is revoked. The Council may 
want to introduce the undertaking voluntarily. 

 
Statutory principles 

 
6.7 The Member Code of Conduct adopted must be consistent with the 

statutory principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership.  These replace the existing 
“general principles” which are set down in statutory instrument.   

 
6.8 Comment -  The principles of personal judgement, duty to uphold the 

law, stewardship and respect for others,  which  currently rank among 
the existing statutory general principles, are no longer to be part of the 
new list of general principles with which the Code must be consistent. 
The duty to ensure consistency with the new list of general principles 
does not mean that the Council could not voluntarily adopt a Code of 
Conduct that embodies those principles now to be excluded from the 
statutory list.  It simply means it is a matter of choice for the Council    
and not a matter of law.  Officers commend this voluntary approach 
and suggest that the local Code should retain provisions relating to 
bullying and disrespect, intimidation, misuse of position and resources, 
and breach of confidentiality. 

 
Pecuniary interests 

 
6.9 The Code must also make such provision as the Council thinks 

appropriate in respect of the registration of interests and the disclosure 
of “pecuniary interests” and in respect of interests other than pecuniary 
interests. The phrase “pecuniary interest” is one which was familiar to 

Page 91



the local government ethical regime before the 2000 Act was 
introduced.   Regulations are to follow as to what is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, though, as before, the underlying principle appears 
to be that an interest is a pecuniary one if the member stands to gain or 
lose in a financial or material way. 

 
6.10 Comment – Though there is specific provision in the Act about 

disclosable pecuniary interests, it is clear that the devil will be in the 
detail of the regulations which are yet to be published, even in draft.  

 
6.11 Comment – It is probably necessary to make some other provision in 

the Code to be drafted locally about other interests (e.g. membership of 
a pressure group) but the wording of the requirement to introduce “such 
provision as the authority considers appropriate” means that this will be 
a matter for local discretion. 

 
7 Register of members’ interests 
 
7.1 The Act provides that the Monitoring Officer must establish and 

maintain a register of members’ interests and it is to be for the Council 
to decide what is included in that register.  No entries may remain in 
the register if the interest no longer exists.  The register must be 
available for inspection by the public and on the Council’s website. 

 
7.2 Members are under a duty to inform the Monitoring Officer, within 28 

days of being appointed, of any ”disclosable pecuniary interest” held at 
the time of notification.  Though regulations will define a disclosable 
pecuniary interest,  it will include the interest of the member, their 
spouse, civil partner or any person living with them as their spouse or 
civil partner.  

 
7.3 Comment – This application is narrower than the current Code 
 
7.4 Comment – Currently there is a duty on the member to ensure that 

their entry in the register is kept up to date.  There is no such provision 
in the new legislation.  Any new interest arising on or after the 29th day 
after appointment need not appear in the register until the next election, 
though it would be possible to require this in the local Code. The 
sanctions for failure to register (see later) would only apply to the 
statutory provision and not any locally determined additional 
requirement to register. 

 
7.5 If there would be a risk of violence or intimidation to the member or 

someone connected with the member arising out of entry of an interest 
in the register, then there are exemptions which require the agreement 
of the Monitoring Officer to apply. These provisions are very similar to 
those in force now. 

 
 
 

Page 92



8 Disclosing an interest at meetings 
 
8.1 If a member has a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter 

considered at a meeting at which the member is present, and the 
interest is not disclosed in the register of members’ interests, and the 
member is aware of the interest, then the member must disclose it to 
the meeting. 

 
8.2 Comment - The requirement seems to indicate that if the register 

already shows the member’s interest, then it need not be declared 
again at the meeting, though a local Code could require this. This may 
seem a sensible approach given that the member would in any event 
be precluded from participation in the debate and vote. 

 
8.3 Though if the member has disclosed an interest, he or she must not 

participate in the discussion or the vote, there is no statutory 
requirement for them to leave the room, though the Council may 
impose such a requirement should it choose to do so.  

 
8.4 Comment – Despite the absence of a requirement to leave the room, 

the Courts have taken a dim view of cases they have adjudicated on 
where a member with an interest has not left the room.  Though the 
statutory provision will not require this, the Courts may persist in this 
view nonetheless. Further recent amendments to the existing national 
Code of Conduct allow members to address meetings notwithstanding 
a personal prejudicial interest provided members of the public are 
allowed to do so.  It may be sensible to carry forward this provision into 
the new Code of Conduct, as it reflects case law. 

 
8.5 If a member discloses an interest at a meeting they must notify the 

Monitoring Officer of the interest so that it thereafter appears in the 
register of interests. 

 
 
9 Offences 
 
9.1 The Act provides that it will be an offence if a person without 

reasonable excuse: 
 

• fails to notify the Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest within the time period; 

 

• participates in any discussion or vote at a meeting where he/she 
has such an interest; 

 

• takes any steps or further steps in relation to the matter in which 
he/she has such an interest, where he/she would otherwise have 
taken the decision personally. 

 

Page 93



It will also be an offence to give false or misleading information to the 
Monitoring Officer about an interest, or to be reckless as to whether the 
information is true or misleading. 
 

9.2 Prosecution is by the Director of Public Prosecutions and conviction 
carries a fine of up to £5000, and possibly disqualification for up to 5 
years. Proceedings must be brought within 12 months of the date on 
which the prosecutor has sufficient evidence in his/her opinion to 
warrant proceedings, but in any event within 3 years of the offence. 

 
10 Dispensations 
 
10.1 The Council may grant a dispensation to a member with a disclosable 

pecuniary interest allowing them to participate in the discussion and/or 
vote if, having regard to all the relevant circumstances, the authority 
considers that:- 

 

• without the dispensation, the number of persons prohibited from 

participation would be so great a proportion of the body transacting 

the business as to impede the transaction of the business; 

 

• without the dispensation, the political balance would be so upset as 

to alter the likely outcome of any vote; 

 

• granting the dispensation is in the interests of the persons living in 

the area; 

 

• where there are executive arrangements, without the dispensation, 

each member of the executive would be unable to participate; or  

 

• it is otherwise appropriate to grant the dispensation 

 

10.2 Comment – the circumstances in which a dispensation may be granted 

are wider than at present.   

 
11 Arrangements for dealing with allegations and investigations 
 
11.1 The Council must have arrangements for investigation of allegations of 

breach of the Member Code of Conduct. They must include the 
appointment of at least one independent person (IP) whose views must 
be sought and taken into account before the authority may make a 
decision on an allegation it has decided to investigate.  The member 
concerned may also seek the IP’s views. 

 
11.2 The IP may not be a member, co-opted member or officer of the 

authority, a relative or close friend of any of those people, nor can the 

Page 94



IP have been a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority in 
the last 5 years. 

 
11.3 The IP is appointed by full Council following public advertisement, and 

can be paid (including expenses) 
 
11.4 If the Council finds that there has been a breach of the Code it may 

have regard to the failure in deciding what action to take. 
 
11.5 Comment – It is difficult to see that the Council would have very wide 

scope to take action as there are no provisions for sanction by the 
Council.  It would be possible for a censure motion to be passed, and 
for the breach to be made public.  Also, case law has held that in 
certain circumstances, depending on the circumstances of the breach, 
it is possible for Council facilities to be withdrawn.  However, the 
Council will not be able to remove members from positions to which 
they were elected or appointed by political groups. 

 
12 Constitutional issues 
 

Membership of a new committee? 
 
12.1 As now, conduct matters are to remain non-executive functions, and so 

will be decided by full Council or by a committee appointed by the 
Council. The terms of reference of any such committee will be for the 
Council to decide, as the statutory requirements relating to the terms of 
reference of the existing Standards Committees will disappear.  Any 
Committee appointed will have to be politically balanced. 

 
12.2 The current requirements for independent membership on the 

Standards Committee will disappear, though it will be possible for the 
Council to co-opt independent members on to the committee. However, 
co-optees do not have voting rights on the committee, unless the 
committee were established as an advisory committee without decision 
making powers. Further in the absence of legislative provision (as 
exists now, but will disappear under the Localism Act)  an independent 
member cannot chair a committee because of their inability to exercise 
a casting vote if necessary. 

 
Arrangements for investigation of allegations of breach 

 
12.3 These are left to the authority to establish, and though the formal 

procedures put in place by previous legislation will disappear, this gives 
rise to a number of questions about what the new process should be.  
The Council will still have to make decisions somehow about whether 
complaints warrant investigation, and if so by whom and how, bearing 
in mind that the investigator will have no power to require people to 
attend interviews, or to access documents.  Should there be a hearing 
process or is a written exchange sufficient? Who will decide what 
action should be taken, if any, if an allegation is found to be 

Page 95



substantiated? How does the IP fit in to this process?  Should the 
investigation process be delegated to an officer, with only the final 
decision about action to be taken reserved to members?  

 
12.4 The existing provisions particular to meetings of Standards Committees 

which allow private meetings in certain circumstances and dispense 
with access to information requirements relating to notice of meetings 
for example, will disappear.  Meetings of any new committee will be 
subject to the access to information requirements applying to all 
Council meetings, and meetings will be public unless one of the 
exemptions under the Local Government Act 1972 can be made out. 
There are to be no special provisions for any new committee.   

 
13  Some matters to address 
 
13.1 What kind of Code does the Council want?   The Association of  

County Solicitors and Secretaries (ACSES) are producing a model 
Code of Conduct and officers propose that this may be an  appropriate 
starting point for Lewisham with any amendments thought necessary to 
reflect local circumstances.  A further report on the proposed Lewisham 
Code will be brought back at the earliest opportunity. Officers suggest 
that the Standards Committee consider the contents of a draft new 
Code and that it be referred to full Council with the comments of the 
Standards Committee for agreement in due course. 

 
13.2 How will the register of members’ interest be recast?  This will only be 

known once the regulations defining pecuniary interests are to hand.  
Again this will be dealt with in a further report  as soon as possible. 

 
13.3 The Constitution will need to be amended to reflect the new 

requirements relating to the disclosure and recording of interests  This 
will be addressed through the Constitution Working Party and referral 
to full Council 

 
13.4 What kind of member body will discharge functions relating to ethical 

standards?   How will members discharge the general duty of 
promotion, informing and training? The Constitution Working Party 
expressed its commitment at a meeting in November 2011 to the 
continuation of a dedicated Standards Committee in some form. Will 
there be co-options to this committee? 

 
13.5 What will be the arrangements for investigation of complaints? What 

role would any standards committee have in such matters? What will 
be delegated to officers? What will be reserved to members?  

 
13.6 Who will deal with applications for dispensation? Is it to be a retained 

Standards Committee or some other arrangement? 
 

Page 96



13.7 Will the Council appoint one or several independent persons?  
Protocols will need to be drafted about how they fit into “arrangements” 
for the handling of complaints. 

. 
14 Financial implications 
 

There are no specific financial implications arising from this report at 
this stage. 

 
15 Legal implications 
 
15.1 Unless and until the provisions in the Localism Act 2011 come into 

force, the current standards regime as set out in the LGA 2000 and 
regulations thereunder will continue.  There are to be transitional 
arrangements for cases in progress. 

 
15.2 In establishing arrangements under the 2011 Act, particularly in relation 

to the investigation of complaints, the Council will need to be mindful of 
the requirements of natural justice and the provisions of Article 6 of the 
European Convention on Human Rights which relate to the right to a 
fair hearing. 

 
15.3 Changes to the Code of Conduct and to the Constitution are a matter 

for full Council. 
 
15.4 There are no specific equalities or environmental implications.  There 

are crime and disorder implications in that the Localism Act creates 
new offences as set out in the report. 

 
 
16 Conclusion 
 

The Localism Act will fundamentally change the statutory ethical 
framework for local government, with much left to local discretion. The 
Standards Committee is urged to support the retention of a Code of 
Conduct which maintains the Council’s commitment to the highest 
standards of ethical behaviour, by going beyond the statutory 
requirements.  The Committee is also urged to support the principle of 
adopting arrangements for the investigation of complaints which both 
increase the flexibility of the current system but still inspire confidence 
that complaints made are taken seriously and properly investigated.  
The new provisions are extremely young, and this report represents the 
start of a process to shift from one regime to another.  Officers will 
therefore bring further reports on options for particular aspects of the 
new regime as they develop and as regulations, particularly in relation 
to disclosable pecuniary interests, develop. 

 
 
 
Contact  Kath Nicholson:   020 8314 7648 

Page 97


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interests
	2 Standards Committee Minutes 21 June
	Standards Committe Minutes 21 June

	3 Annual Complaints
	4 Compliance with Mermber Code of Conduct
	Appendix 1 BRIBERY ACT 2010
	Appendix 2 WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

	5 Localism Act

